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Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
  2021 2020 
 Note AED AED 

    
Revenue from contracts with customers 4 (a) 39,115,461 62,847,721 
Income from investment properties 4 (b) 32,868,695 34,912,024 
Net income from investments 4 (c) 51,514,770 104,569,008 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
  123,498,926 202,328,753 
    
Direct costs  (37,747,145) (65,473,157) 
Selling and distribution expenses 5 (17,251,267) (17,705,010) 
General and administrative expenses 6 (26,558,731) (28,395,367) 
Impairment loss on other asset 13 (5,949,510) - 
Impairment loss on trade receivables 16 (284,475) (5,711,458) 
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 11 (16,778,013) (6,000,000) 
Share of results of associate 14 108,395,276 - 
Other income  4,369,384 1,203,134 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Operating profit  131,694,445 80,246,895 
    
Finance costs  (15,752,445) (24,376,434) 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Profit for the year   115,942,000 55,870,461 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Attributable to:    
Equity holders of the company  116,378,013 56,189,217 
Non-controlling interests  (436,013) (318,756) 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
  115,942,000 55,870,461 
  ============ ============ 
 
Basic and diluted earnings per share    
attributable to equity holders of the Company 27 0.97 0.47 
  ============ ============ 
 
The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 2 to 6. 
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Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
  2021 2020 
  AED AED 
    
Profit for the year  115,942,000 55,870,461 
    
Other comprehensive (loss) / income     
Items that will not be subsequently reclassified to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Net changes in fair value of investments held at FVTOCI 12 (5,473,566) 16,207,668 

Associate – share of other comprehensive loss 14 (25,090) - 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Other comprehensive (loss) / income for the year  (5,498,656) 16,207,668 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  110,443,344 72,078,129 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
s    

Attributable to:    
Equity holders of the Company  110,879,357 72,392,249 
Non-controlling interests  (436,013) (314,120) 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
  110,443,344 72,078,129 
  ============ ============ 
 
The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
The independent auditor’s report is set out on pages 2 to 6. 
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Foodco Holding PJSC 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position 
As at 31 December 2021 
 

 
 Notes   
  2021 2020 
  AED AED 
    
Assets 
Non-current assets 
Property and equipment 7   60,351,897  63,611,726  
Intangible assets 8   787,850    1,496,977  
Right-of-use assets 9   8,154,987    12,780,173  
Investment properties under development 10  -   5,518,050  
Investment properties 11   242,012,006    258,714,106  
Equity-accounted investee 14 292,931,271  - 
Investments held at fair value through other  
   comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 12   19,738,327    163,068,927  
Other asset 13  -   5,949,510 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Total non-current assets   623,976,338  511,139,469 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Current assets 
Inventories 15   26,427,210    39,186,104  
Investments held at fair value  
   through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 12   273,630,705    334,186,853  
Trade and other receivables 16   10,791,313  28,497,070 
Prepayment  1,807,306 1,166,567 
Amounts due from related parties 26   1,243,983    1,302,780  
Cash and cash equivalents  17   20,017,138    5,293,243 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Total current assets    333,917,655  409,632,617 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Total assets  957,893,993  920,772,086 
  ============ ============ 
Equity 
Share capital 18  120,000,000   120,000,000  
Legal reserve 19  60,000,000   60,000,000  
Regulatory reserve 20  60,000,000   60,000,000  
Fair value reserve     (38,085,835)  (114,529,085) 
Retained earnings   305,790,338  269,518,444 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Equity attributable to Owners of the Company  507,704,503 394,989,359 
Non-controlling interests 21   5,587,848    3,481,541 
  ----------------------- ----------------------- 
Total equity  513,292,351  398,470,900 
  ============    ============ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                           (Continued..) 
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Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
 
      Equity Non- 
      attributable controlling 
 Share Legal Regulatory Fair value Retained to Owners of interests  
 capital reserve reserve reserve earnings the Company (“NCI”) Total 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 
 
At 1 January 2020 120,000,000   60,000,000   60,000,000   (130,732,117)  213,329,227   322,597,110   3,795,661   326,392,771 
Total comprehensive   
   (loss) / income for the year       
Profit / (loss) for the year -   -   -   -    56,189,217   56,189,217   (318,756) 55,870,461 
Other comprehensive income -   -   -   16,203,032  -    16,203,032   4,636   16,207,668 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Total comprehensive 
   (loss) / income for the period -   -   -    16,203,032   56,189,217   72,392,249     (314,120)   72,078,129 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
At 31 December 2020 120,000,000   60,000,000   60,000,000    (114,529,085)   269,518,444   394,989,359    3,481,541   398,470,900 
 ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============= 
 
At 1 January 2021 120,000,000   60,000,000   60,000,000    (114,529,085)   269,518,444   394,989,359    3,481,541   398,470,900 
Total comprehensive income /  
   (loss) for the year 
Profit / (loss) for the year -   -   -   -  116,378,013 116,378,013   (436,013)   115,942,000 
Other comprehensive loss -   -   -  (5,498,656) -    (5,498,656)  -     (5,498,656) 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Total comprehensive         
   income / (loss) for the year -   -   -    (5,498,656) 116,378,013     110,879,357   (436,013)   110,443,344 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Transfer to retained earnings  -   -   -    81,941,906   (81,941,906)  -   -   - 
Changes in ownership interests 
Change in NCI without a  
   loss of control -   -   -   -    1,835,787     1,835,787     2,542,320     4,378,107 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
At 31 December 2021  120,000,000   60,000,000   60,000,000    (38,085,835)   305,790,338   507,704,503   5,587,848  513,292,351 
 ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============ ============= 
 
The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Foodco Holding PJSC 
 

Consolidated statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 

  2021  2020 
 Note AED  AED 
     
Cash flows from operating activities     
Profit for the year  115,942,000  55,870,461 
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation on property and equipment 7 4,158,240  4,146,419 
Amortisation of intangible assets 8 709,127  701,025 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets 9 843,438  7,272,184 
Gain on disposal of property and equipment  -  (29,880) 
(Gain) / loss on sale of investments carried at FVTPL 4(c) (41,851,060)  51,757 
Net changes in fair value of investments carried at FVTPL 4(c) (4,999,622)  (95,335,726) 
Provision for employees’ end of service benefits 22 554,353  482,849 
Dividend income 4(c) (4,664,088)  (9,285,039) 
Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables, net 16 284,475  3,291,458 
Provision for expected credit losses on other receivables 16 -  2,420,000 
Provision for slow moving inventories 15 300,000  951,356 
Decrease in fair value of investment properties 11 16,778,013  6,000,000 
Finance costs  15,752,445  24,376,434 
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets and lease liability  (2,538,880)  - 
Loss on disposal of investment properties under development  584,000  - 
Loss on impairment of other asset 13 5,949,510  - 
Share of results of associate 14 (108,395,276)  - 
  (593,325)  913,298 
Changes in:     
Inventories  12,458,894  (23,708,226) 
Trade and other receivables and prepayment  16,780,543  133,270,977 
Amounts due from related parties  58,797  9,548 
Amounts due to related parties  (1,790,255)  1,155,118 
Trade and other payables  8,976,510  (28,678,587) 
     

  35,891,164  82,962,128 
     

Dividends received  4,664,088  9,271,911 
Dividends received from associate 14 9,711,157  - 
Employees’ end of service benefits paid 22 (835,895)  (1,260,260) 
Purchase of investments 12 (80,206,925)  (87,078,773) 
Proceeds from disposal of investments  131,198,547  135,126,478 
     

Net cash flows generated from operating activities  100,422,136  139,021,484 
     

Cash flows from investing activities     
Purchase of property and equipment 7 (898,411)  (2,311,491) 
Purchase of intangible assets 8 -  (69,100) 
Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  -  53,063 
Additions to investment properties under development 10 (75,913)  (1,045,653) 
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties under development 10 4,934,050  - 
Net cash flows generated from / (used in) investing activities  3,959,726  (3,373,181) 
     
Cash flows from financing activities     
Proceeds from bank borrowings  148,211,715  282,356,130 
Repayment of bank borrowings  (110,887,615)  (382,064,571) 
Proceeds from changes in NCI  4,378,107  - 
Payment of lease liabilities 23 (1,169,914)  (5,835,031) 
Finance costs paid 24 (15,582,963)  (22,900,865) 
Net cash flows generated from / (used in) financing activities  24,949,330  (128,444,337) 
     
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  129,331,192  7,203,966 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  (195,614,198)  (202,818,164) 
     
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 17 (66,283,006)  (195,614,198) 
     
 

The attached notes 1 to 33 form part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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2 

Legal status and principal activities 
Foodco Holding PJSC (the "Company") is a public shareholding company incorporated in Abu Dhabi, 
United Arab Emirates. The Company was established in 1979. It is regulated and listed on the Abu 
Dhabi Securities Exchange.  

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the "Group") are primarily engaged in 
the import and distribution of foodstuff and household items in the United Arab Emirates, along with 
investing, development and management of real estate and commercial enterprises. The objectives of 
the Company and its subsidiaries include investment in or establishment of companies in the same line 
of business and investment in or establishment of factories in the processing or canning of foodstuff 
as well as engagement in all operations and investments in and outside the United Arab Emirates.  

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors on 22 March 2022.

Basis of preparation 

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (“IASB”) and applicable requirements of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 (as
amended).

The Group is required, for the year ended 31 December 2021 to be in compliance with the
provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, as amended. On 20 September 2021, the
UAE Federal Decree Law No. 32 of 2021 was issued and came into effect on 2 January 2022
which repealed the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (as amended). The Group has 12 months
from 2 January 2022 to comply with the  provisions of the UAE Federal Decree Law No 32 of
2021.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
following items measured at fair value:

 financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss and other comprehensive income
 investment properties

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The consolidated financial statements have been presented in United Arab Emirates Dirhams
(“AED”), which is the functional and presentation currency of the Group.

(d) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised in any future
periods affected.
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 
(d) Use of estimates and judgements (continued) 

 
In particular, information about significant areas of estimation uncertainty and critical 
judgements in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in note 32. 
 

(e) Basis of consolidation 
 

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set 
of activities and assets meets the definition of a business and control is transferred to the Group. In 
determining whether a particular set of activities and assets is a business, the Group assesses 
whether the set of assets and activities acquired includes, at a minimum, an input and substantive 
process and whether the acquired set has the ability to produce outputs. 
 
The Group has an option to apply a ‘concentration test’ that permits a simplified assessment of 
whether an acquired set of activities and assets is not a business. The optional concentration test is 
met if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single 
identifiable asset or group of similar identifiable assets. 
 
The consideration transferred in the acquisition is generally measured at fair value, as are the 
identifiable net assets acquired. Any goodwill that arises is tested annually for impairment. Any 
gain on a bargain purchase is recognised in profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs are 
expensed as incurred, except if related to the issue of debt or equity securities. The consideration 
transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre‑existing relationships. Such 
amounts are generally recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Any contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the date of acquisition. If an obligation to 
pay contingent consideration that meets the definition of a financial instrument is classified  
as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise, other 
contingent consideration is remeasured at fair value at each reporting date and subsequent changes 
in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, as of 31 December 2021. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, 
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the 
Group has: 
 
• Power over the investee (i.e. existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant 

activities of the investee); 
• Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and 
• The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. 
 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control. To support this 
presumption and when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an 
investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power 
over an investee, including: 
 
• The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of an investee; 
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and 
• The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights. 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 
(e) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary 
begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control 
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of 
during the period are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group 
gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary. 
 
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity 
holders of the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the 
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows 
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation. A 
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction. 
 
If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognizes the related assets (including goodwill), 
liabilities, non-controlling interest and other components of equity while any resultant gain or loss 
is recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained is recognized at fair value. 
 
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and those 
of its following subsidiaries: 
 
 
 
Name of subsidiary 

Country of 
incorporation 

Percentage of 
ownership 

Principal activities 

  2021 2020   
      
Subsidiaries directly under the Company  
  
National Oasis 
Foodstuff Company 
LLC 

UAE 100% 100%  Packing of foodstuff 

      
FOODCO National 
Foodstuff PJSC 

UAE 97.79%* 98.75%  Catering services and 
restaurant business 

      
Abu Dhabi National 
Catering LLC 

UAE 100% 100%  Catering services and 
wholesale of foodstuff  

      
Dana Plaza Real-
Estate LLC 

UAE 100% 100%  Investing, development 
and management of real 
estate and commercial 
enterprises 

NURANA Properties 
WLL 

Bahrain 100% -  Investing, development 
and management of real 
estate and commercial 
enterprises 
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2 Basis of preparation (continued) 

 
(e) Basis of consolidation (continued) 

 
Subsidiary of FOODCO National Foodstuff PJSC  
                                                            Percentage of ownership  
 
Name of subsidiary    Country of  
                                     Incorporation         2021          2020 

 

Abu Dhabi National 
Foodstuff Co LLC 

UAE 100% 100%  Wholesale and 
distribution of foodstuff 

      
5PL Logistics LLC UAE 100% 100%  Shipment, clearance and 

warehousing services 
 
* Included in the 97.79% shareholding of the Group in FOODCO National Foodstuff PJSC, 1.25% 
shares which amount to 3,500,000 shares that are hold under “Liquidity Provision Agreement” in 
reference to “ADX Liquidity Provider Regulations” by a third-party licensed Market Maker.  
 

3 Significant accounting policies 
 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in 
these consolidated financial statements, and have been applied consistently by Group entities, 
except if mentioned otherwise. 

 
(a) Revenue recognition  

 
Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer. The Group 
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. The Group has 
generally concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements, because it typically controls 
the goods or services before transferring them to the customer. The following table provides 
information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts 
with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies. 
 
Type of 
product/service 

Nature and timing of 
satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including 
significant payment terms 

Revenue recognition policies 

 
 
 
Sale of goods 
 

Customers obtain control of 
goods when the goods are 
delivered to and have been 
accepted at their premises. 
Invoices are generated at that 
point in time. Invoices are 
usually payable within 60 
days.  

Revenue from the sale of goods 
is recognised at the point in 
time when control of the asset is 
transferred to the customer, 
generally on delivery of the 
goods. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 

 
Type of 
product/service 

Nature and timing of 
satisfaction of performance 
obligations, including 
significant payment terms 

Revenue recognition policies 

Freight  
forwarding and 
storage 

Invoices for freight forwarding 
and storage are issued on a 
monthly basis and are usually 
payable within 30 days. 

Revenue arising from freight 
forwarding and storage services 
is accounted for on the basis of 
the number of the days services 
are provided, and the Group 
recognises revenue over time, as 
the services are rendered. 

 
The Group recognises revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step model as set 
out in IFRS 15: 
 
Step 1:  Identify contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two 
or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every 
contract that must be met. 
Step 2:  Identify performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise 
in a contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer. 
Step 3:  Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to 
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services 
to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Step 4:  Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a 
contract that has more than one performance obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price 
to each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which 
the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation. 
Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation. 
 
The Group satisfies a performance obligation and recognises revenue over time, if one of the 
following criteria is met: 
 
a) The Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternate use to the Group and 

the Group has as an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. 
b) The Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the 

asset is created or enhanced. 
c) The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s 

performance as the Group performs. 
 
For performance obligations where one of the above conditions are not met, revenue is 
recognised at the point in time at which the performance obligation is satisfied. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(a) Revenue recognition (continued) 

 
When the Group satisfies a performance obligation by delivering the promised goods or services it 
creates a contract based asset on the amount of consideration earned by the performance. Where 
the amount of consideration received from a customer exceeds the amount of revenue recognised 
this gives rise to a contract liability. 
 
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, taking into 
account contractually defined terms of payment and excluding taxes and duty. The Group assesses 
its revenue arrangements against specific criteria to determine if it is acting as principal or agent. 
 
Revenue is recognised to the extent it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably. 
 

(b) Leases 
 
The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange 
for consideration. 
 
Group as a lessee 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-
term leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease 
payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets. 
 

i). Right-of-use assets 
 
The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease 
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial 
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease 
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
as follows: 
 
Land 4 to 30 years 
 
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the 
asset. 
 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to summary of significant accounting 
policies for impairment of non-financial assets section. 
 

ii). Lease liabilities 
 
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed 
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable 
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual  
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(b) Leases (continued) 

 
ii). Lease liabilities (continued) 

 
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option 
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, 
if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce 
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs. 
 
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate 
at the lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. 
After the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of 
interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease 
liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the in-
substance fixed lease payments or a change in the assessment to purchase the underlying asset. 
 

iii). Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain 
a purchase option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases that 
are considered of low value (i.e., below USD 5,000, when new). Lease payments on short- term 
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. 
 
Group as a lessor 
At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative standalone 
prices. When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a 
finance lease or an operating lease. 
 
To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this 
is the case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this 
assessment, the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part 
of the economic life of the asset. 
 
When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the 
sub-lease separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the 
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head 
lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it 
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease. If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease 
components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate the consideration in the contract. 
 
 The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment 
in the lease. The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in 
calculating the gross investment in the lease. The Group recognises lease payments received under 
operating leases as income on a straightline basis over the lease term as part of ‘income from 
investment properties’. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(c) Property and equipment 

 
Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in 
value. Land is not depreciated. 
 
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets including 
installation costs. The cost of replacing part of an item of property and equipment is recognised in 
the carrying amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within 
the part will flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the 
replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance expenses are charged to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are incurred. 
 
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted 
for as separate items (major components) of property and equipment. 
 
Depreciation 
Items of property and equipment are depreciated from the date they are available for use. 
 
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property and equipment less their 
estimated residual values using the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation 
is generally recognised in profit or loss, unless the amount is included in the carrying amount of 
another asset.  
 
Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of other 
significant items of property and equipment are as follows: 
 Years 
  
Warehouse and office buildings 25 
Equipment, furniture and fittings 10 to 20 
Motor vehicles 4 
 
The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of property and equipment is determined as 
the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the property and equipment 
and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year when the property and 
equipment is sold or retired. 
 
Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(c) Property and equipment (continued) 

 
Capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development 
Capital work-in-progress and intangibles under development are recorded at cost. Allocated costs 
directly attributable to the construction of the asset are capitalised. The capital work-in-progress 
and intangibles under development are transferred to the appropriate asset category and depreciated 
or amortised in accordance with the Group’s policies when construction of the asset is completed, 
and the asset is commissioned. 
 
Borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their 
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary 
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from 
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 

(d) Investment properties 
 
Initial recognition and measurement 
Investment properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.  
 
Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which reflects 
market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of 
investment properties are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in 
which they arise. Fair values are determined based on an annual valuation performed by 
management applying an in-house valuation model. 
 
Derecognition 
Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of (i.e., at the date the 
recipient obtains control) or when they are permanently withdrawn from use and no future 
economic benefit is expected from their withdrawal. The difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the period of derecognition. In determining the amount of consideration from the 
derecognition of investment property, the Group considers the effects of variable consideration, 
existence of a significant financing component, non-cash consideration, and consideration payable 
to the buyer (if any). 
 
Transfer 
Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in use. For a 
transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property, the deemed cost for subsequent 
accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. If owner-occupied property becomes an 
investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated 
under property and equipment up to the date of change in use. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(d) Investment properties (continued) 

 
Investment properties under development 
Investment properties under development that are being constructed or developed for future use as 
investment properties are measured initially at cost including all direct costs attributable to the 
design and construction of the properties including related staff direct costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, investment properties under development are measured at fair value. Gains and losses 
arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties under development are included in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise. Upon 
completion of construction or development, such properties are transferred to completed 
investment properties. 
 

(e)  Inventories 
 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined on a weighted 
average cost basis and comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and 
those overheads that have been incurred in bringing them to their present location and condition. 
Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of the business, based on 
market prices at the reporting date and discounted for the time value of money if material, less costs 
to completion and the estimated costs of sale. 
 

(f)  Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
The Group assesses, at each reporting date, whether there is an indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the 
Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s (CGU) fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
 
Recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. When the 
carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered 
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. 
 
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using 
a discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks 
specific to the asset. In determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken 
into account, if available. If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model 
is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly 
traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators. 
 
The Group bases its impairment calculation on detailed budgets and forecast calculations, which 
are prepared separately for each of the Group’s CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. 
These budgets and forecast calculations cover a period to the end of useful life of the assets. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(f)  Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 

 
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is 
any indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have 
decreased. If such indication exists, the Group estimates the assets’ or cash-generating units’ 
recoverable amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a 
change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last 
impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of the asset 
does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. 
Such reversal is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
 

(g) Financial instruments 
 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 
 
Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities are initially recognised when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. 
 
A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or 
financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a 
significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement 

 
Financial assets 
 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; FVOCI – 
debt investment; FVOCI – equity investment; or FVTPL. 
 
Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Group 
changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 
assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 
business model. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
(g) Financial instruments (continued) 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

Financial assets (continued) 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and 
is not designated as at FVTPL: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 
cash flows; and 

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

A debt investment is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 
designated as at FVTPL: 

• it is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets; and  

• its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the Group may 
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s fair value in OCI. This 
election is made on an investment-by-investment basis. 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above 
are measured at FVTPL. On initial recognition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial 
asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at 
FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would 
otherwise arise. 
 
Financial assets – Business model assessment  
 

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial asset 
is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed and 
information is provided to management. The information considered includes: 

• the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in 
practice. These include whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual 
interest income, maintaining a particular interest rate profile, matching the duration of the 
financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash outflows or 
realising cash flows through the sale of the assets; 

• how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management; 
• the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held 

within that business model) and how those risks are managed; 
• how managers of the business are compensated – e.g. whether compensation is based on 

the fair value of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and 
• the frequency, volume and timing of sales of financial assets in prior periods, the reasons 

for such sales and expectations about future sales activity. 
 

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition 
are not considered sales for this purpose, consistent with the Group’s continuing recognition of 
the assets. Financial assets that are held for trading or are managed and whose performance is 
evaluated on a fair value basis are measured at FVTPL.   
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(g) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset 
on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for 
the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time 
and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well 
as a profit margin. 

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the 
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual 
cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the Group 
considers: 

• contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows; 
• terms that may adjust the contractual coupon rate, including variable-rate features; 
• prepayment and extension features; and 
• terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse 

features). 
 

A prepayment feature is consistent with the solely payments of principal and interest criterion if 
the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid amounts of principal and interest on the 
principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable additional compensation for early 
termination of the contract. Additionally, for a financial asset acquired at a discount or premium 
to its contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that  
substantially represents the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest 
(which may also include reasonable additional compensation for early termination) is treated as 
consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment feature is insignificant at initial 
recognition. 
 

Financial assets – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  
 

Financial assets at 

FVTPL 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, 
including any interest or dividend income, are recognised in profit or loss.  

Financial assets at 

amortised cost 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment 
losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment 
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss. 

Debt investments 
at 

FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Interest income 
calculated using the effective interest method, foreign exchange gains and 
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Other net gains and 
losses are recognised in OCI. On derecognition, gains and losses 
accumulated in OCI are reclassified to profit or loss. 

Equity investments 

at FVOCI 

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Dividends are 
recognised as income in profit or loss unless the dividend clearly represents 
a recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses 
are recognised in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(g) Financial instruments (continued) 

 
(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 
 

Financial liabilities – Classification, subsequent measurement and gains and losses 

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVTPL. A financial liability 
is classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated 
as such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net 
gains and losses, including any interest expense, are recognised in profit or loss. Other financial 
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain 
or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.  

The Group's financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables, accrued expenses and other 
current liabilities, due to a related party, term loans, lease liability and other non-current liability, 
which are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an 
effective yield basis except, for short-term liabilities when the recognition of interest would be 
immaterial. 
 

(iii) Derecognition  
 

Financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
financial asset expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a 
transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset 
are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of the risks 
and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset. 

The Group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of 
financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 
transferred assets. In these cases, the transferred assets are not derecognised. 

Financial liabilities 

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or 
cancelled, or expire. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are 
modified and the cash flows of the modified liability are substantially different, in which case a 
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. 

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount 
extinguished and the consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities 
assumed) is recognised in profit or loss. 
 

(iv) Offsetting 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position when, and only when, the Group currently has a 
legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis 
or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(h) Impairment of financial assets 

 
Non-derivative financial assets 

 
The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on: 

 
• financial assets measured at amortised cost;  

 
Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs. 
 
When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information. 
 
The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly based on 
significant judgement. Specific factors management considers include the age of balance, 
background of the customers, existence of disputes, recent historical payment patterns and any 
other available information concerning the creditworthiness of the counterparty. 
 
The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its 
credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising 
security (if any is held). 
 
Lifetime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of 
a financial instrument. 
 
12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events that are possible within 
the 12 months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument 
is less than 12 months). 
 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
 
Measurement of ECLs 
 
ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
present value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in 
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive). 
 
ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
(h) Impairment of financial assets (continued) 

 
Non-derivative financial assets (continued) 
 
Credit-impaired financial assets 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cost are 
credit-impaired. A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. 
 
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 
 
• significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer; 
• a breach of contract such as a default; 
• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 

consider otherwise; 
• it is probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or 

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties. 
 
Presentation of allowance for ECL in the consolidated statement of financial position 
 
Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross 
carrying amount of the assets. 
 
Write-off 
 
The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. The Group 
individually makes an assessment with respect to the timing and amount of write-off based on 
whether there is a reasonable expectation of recovery. The Group expects no significant recovery 
from the amount written off. However, financial assets that are written off could still be subject 
to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Group’s procedures for recovery of 
amounts due. 

 
 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
 
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash in hand and bank balances net of bank overdrafts and term deposits with a maturity of three 
months or less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their 
fair value. 
 

(j) Provisions 
 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has an obligation (legal or constructive) arising from a 
past event, and the costs to settle the obligation are both probable and able to be reliably measured. 
 
A contingent liability is disclosed if there is a possible obligation depending on whether some 
uncertain future event occurs or a present obligation but payment is not probable or the amount 
cannot be measured reliably. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(k) Employees' end of service benefits 

 
Defined benefit plan  
The Group currently operates a defined benefit plan for post-employment benefit. This an unfunded 
scheme for defined benefits in accordance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal 
Labour Law and is based on periods of cumulative service and levels of employees' basic salaries 
at the end of their employment contract. The Group provides end of service benefits to its expatriate 
employees.  The entitlement to these benefits is usually based upon the employees’ final salary and 
length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum service period.  The expected costs of 
these benefits are accrued over the period of employment. 
 
Defined contribution plan  
With respect to its UAE national employees, the Group makes contributions to the relevant 
government pension scheme calculated as a percentage of the employees’ salaries. The Group’s 
obligations are limited to these contributions, which are expensed when due. 
 
An actuarial valuation is not performed on staff terminal and other benefits as the net impact of the 
discount rate and future salary and benefits level on the present value of the benefits obligation are 
not expected by management to be significant. 
 

(l) Taxes 
 
Value added tax (“VAT”) 
Expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of VAT, except: 
 
• When the VAT incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not recoverable from the 

taxation authority, in which case, the VAT is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of 
the asset or as part of the expense item, as applicable; or 

• When receivables and payables are stated with the amount of VAT included. 
 
The net amount of VAT recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

(m) Foreign currencies 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transactions.  
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of 
exchange ruling at the reporting date. All differences are taken to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency 
are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date 
when the fair value is determined. 
 

(n) Fair value measurement 
 
The Group measures financial instruments such as financial assets at fair value through other 
comprehensive income at fair value at each statement of consolidated financial position date. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(n) Fair value measurement (continued) 

 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value 
measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either: 
 
• In the principal market for the asset or liability; or 
• In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. 
 
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. 
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants 
would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their 
economic best interest. 
 
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant's ability 
to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another 
market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use. 
 
The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which 
sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs 
and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial 
statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole: 
 
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is directly or indirectly observable  
Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 

value measurement is unobservable  
 

(o) Current versus non-current classification 
 
The Group presents assets and liabilities in consolidated statement of financial position based on 
current / non-current classification. An asset is current when it is: 
 
• Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle; 
• Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
• Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period; or 
• Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability 

for at least twelve months after the reporting period. 
 
All other assets are classified as non-current. 
 
A liability is current when: 
 
• It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle; 
• It is held primarily for the purpose of trading; 
• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 
• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve 

months after the reporting period. 
The Group classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 
(p) Interests in equity-accounted investees 

 
The Group’s interests in equity-accounted investees comprise interests in associate. 
 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control or 
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.  
 
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method. They are recognised initially 
at cost, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of the profit or loss and OCI of equity accounted 
investees, until the date on which significant influence or joint control ceases. 
 

 Transactions eliminated on consolidation 
 
Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses except for 
foreign currency transaction gains or losses) arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity accounted investees are 
eliminated against the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no 
evidence of impairment. 
 

(q) Finance costs 
 
The Group’s finance costs include interest expenses and the foreign currency gain or loss on 
financial assets and financial liabilities. Interest expense is recognised using the effective interest 
(EIR) method. In calculating interest expense, the effective interest rate is applied to the amortised 
cost of the liability. 
 

(r) Intangible assets 
 
 Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 

intangible assets acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. 
Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated intangibles, excluding capitalised 
development costs, are not capitalised and the related expenditure is reflected in consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which the expenditure is incurred. 

 
 The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. The following useful 

lives have been determined for acquired intangible assets: 
 
Intangible asset 3 years 
 
Intangible assets with finite live are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The 
amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are 
reviewed at least at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected useful life or the 
expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied in the asset are considered 
to modify the amortisation period or method, as appropriate, and are treated as changes in 
accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets with finite lives is recognised 
in the consolidated income statement in the expense category that is consistent with the function of 
the intangible assets. 
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3 Significant accounting policies (continued) 

(r) Intangible assets (continued)

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the
consolidated income statement when the asset is derecognised.

(q) New standards or amendments for 2021 and forthcoming requirements

New currently effective standards

A number of new standards are effective from 1 January 2021, but they do not have a material effect
on the financial statements:

New standard or amendments
COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16)
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4
and IFRS 16) 

Forthcoming requirements 

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning 
after 1 January 2021 and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted 
any of the forthcoming new or amended standards in preparing these financial statements. 
Management anticipates that the application of the following standards does not have a material 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements in the period of initial application. 

New standard or amendments Effective date 

Amendment to IFRS 16 - COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 
June 2021 

1 April 2021 

Amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before 
Intended Use 

1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 37 – Onerous contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 1 January 2022 
Amendments to IFRS 3 - Reference to Conceptual Framework 1 January 2022 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 1 January 2022 

Amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 - Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities 
arising from a Single Transaction 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current 1 January 2023 
IFRS 17 – Insurance Contracts and amendments to IFRS 17 Insurance 
Contracts 

1 January 2023 

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 

Effective date 
deferred 

indefinitely 
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4 Revenue 

 
a) Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Sale of goods 33,944,220 58,901,070 
Freight forwarding and storage 5,171,241 3,946,651 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
 39,115,461 62,847,721 
 =========== =========== 
 
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with customers: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
 
Geographical markets   
United Arab Emirates (“UAE”) 39,115,461 62,847,721 
 =========== =========== 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
 
Timing of revenue recognition   
Revenue recognised over time 5,171,241 3,946,651 
Revenue recognised at point in time 33,944,220 58,901,070 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
 39,115,461 62,847,721 
 =========== =========== 
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4 Revenue 

 
b) Income from investment properties 
 
The Group leases out its investment property. The Group has classified these leases as operating 
leases, because they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the 
ownership of the assets.  
 
Set out below is the disaggregation of the Group’s income from investment properties: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Rental income (note 11) 32,868,695 34,912,024 
 =========== =========== 
 
c) Net income from investments 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Dividend income 4,664,088 9,285,039 
   
Net realised income / (loss) from financial instruments at 
FVTPL 

 
41,851,060 

 
(51,757) 

   
Net unrealised income from financial instruments at 
FVTPL (note 12) 

 
4,999,622 

 
95,335,726 

 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
 51,514,770 104,569,008 
 =========== =========== 
The realised gain from financial instruments at FVTPL represents the difference between the carrying 
amount of a financial instrument at the beginning of the reporting period, or the transaction price if it 
was purchased in the current reporting period, and the consideration received on disposal. 
 
The unrealised gain represents the difference between the carrying amount of a financial instrument 
at the beginning of the period, or the transaction price if it was purchased in the current reporting 
period, and its carrying amount at the end of the reporting period.  
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5 Selling and distribution expenses 

 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Staff costs 9,248,076 10,569,207 
Travelling expenses 683,698 748,009 
Promotional expenses 1,494,563 464,920 
Depreciation (note 7) 3,210,197 2,775,239 
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (note 9) 238,460 441,471 
Tender expenses 61,338 166,863 
Marketing department expenses 235,599 996,086 
Other expenses 2,079,336 1,543,215 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
 17,251,267 17,705,010 
 =========== =========== 

 
6 General and administrative expenses 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Staff costs 9,316,256 9,047,714 
Directors remuneration  - 8,780,988 
Utilities expenses 2,331,792 2,146,651 
Travelling expenses 491,175 378,975 
Depreciation expenses (note 7) 948,043 1,070,029 
Amortisation expenses (note 8) 709,127 701,025 
Repair and maintenance expenses   2,616,803 1,317,586 
Legal and professional fees 2,829,779 2,413,761 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment  - (29,880) 
Licenses and registration expenses 114,397 89,835 
Investment consultancy expense (note 26) 5,916,860 - 
Other expenses 1,284,499 2,478,683 
 ---------------------- ---------------------- 
 26,558,731 28,395,367 
 =========== =========== 
 
The Group has not made any social contributions during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
Nil). 
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7 Property and equipment 
 
  Warehouse  Equipment  Motor  Capital   
  buildings  furniture  vehicles   work in  Total 

    and fittings    progress   
  AED  AED  AED  AED  AED 

           
           
Cost            
At 1 January 2020  16,953,592  27,615,639  8,095,020  1,187,204  53,851,455 
Additions  -  604,063  762,500  944,928  2,311,491 
Transfer from investment 
properties* (note 11)  59,500,000  -  -  -  59,500,000 
Transfer from CWIP  -  1,635,982  -  (1,635,982)  - 
Disposals  -  (40,140)  (156,200)  -  (196,340) 
At 31 December 2020  76,453,592  29,815,544  8,701,320  496,150  115,466,606 

           
At 1 January 2021  76,453,592  29,815,544  8,701,320  496,150  115,466,606 
Additions  -  350,764  85,800  461,847  898,411 
At 31 December 2021  76,453,592  30,166,308  8,787,120  957,997  116,365,017 

           
Accumulated depreciation           - 
At 1 January 2020  16,190,686  24,210,985  7,479,947  -  47,881,618 
Charge for the year  1,765,838  1,837,179  543,402  -  4,146,419 
Relating to disposals  -  (16,987)  (156,170)  -  (173,157) 
At 31 December 2020  17,956,524  26,031,177  7,867,179  -  51,854,880 

           
At 1 January 2021  17,956,524  26,031,177  7,867,179  -  51,854,880 
Charge for the year  2,526,643  1,293,178  338,419  -  4,158,240 
At 31 December 2021  20,483,167  27,324,355  8,205,598  -  56,013,120 
Net carrying amounts   
 
At 31 December 2021  55,970,425  2,841,953  581,522  957,997  60,351,897 

           
At 31 December 2020  58,497,068  3,784,367  834,141  496,150  63,611,726         

           
   

 
The depreciation charge for the period has been allocated as follows: 
 

 
 

2021  2020 
  AED  AED 
  

 
 

 

Selling and distribution expenses (note 5)        3,210,197    2,775,239  
General and administrative expenses (note 6)           948,043     1,070,029  
Direct costs  -       301,151  

        4,158,240     4,146,419  
 
* During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s management resolved to transfer properties amounting to AED 
59,500,000 from investment properties to property and equipment due to the evidenced change of their use. The value 
recorded was based on the fair value of the properties as of the date of transfer. 
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7 Property and equipment (continued) 

 
Included under warehouse and office buildings, is a warehouse in Dubai constructed in 2000 on a 
plot of land leased from Dubai Municipality for a renewable period of 5 years with effect from 1 
February 1999. Since 2004, the lease agreement is being renewed on a yearly basis. 
 
Included under equipment, furniture and fittings, is the office complex which was completed in 
August 2001 on the aforesaid leased land in Mina Zayed Port in Abu Dhabi. 
 
 

8 Intangible assets 
 
 

 2021  2020 
 AED  AED 
    

    
Cost    
At 1 January   2,376,407          365,150  
Transfer from intangible assets under development -      1,942,157  
Additions -           69,100  
At 31 December   2,376,407       2,376,407  
    
Accumulated amortisation     
At 1 January      879,430          178,405  
Charge for the year      709,127          701,025  
At 31 December   1,588,557          879,430  
    
Net carrying amount:    
At 31 December       787,850       1,496,977  

  

 Intangible assets mainly comprise of software. 
 

9 Right-of-use assets 
 

 2021  2020 
 AED  AED 
    

At 1 January   12,780,173     23,059,114  
Addition during the year      2,419,873    - 
Lease terminated during the year (6,352,607)  - 
Depreciation expense for the year      (843,438)   (7,272,184) 
Modification of lease        150,986    (3,006,757)     
     8,154,987     12,780,173  

 
The depreciation charge for the year has been allocated as follows: 

 
 2021  2020 

 AED  AED 
    

Direct costs  604,978       6,830,713  
Selling and distribution expenses (note 5) 238,460          441,471  
 843,438       7,272,184  
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10 Investment properties under development 
 

 2021  2020 
 AED  AED 
    

At 1 January 5,518,050     22,525,635  
Costs incurred during the year  75,913       1,045,653  
Capitalised during the year (note 11)  (75,913)  (18,053,238) 
Disposal*  (5,518,050)  - 
 -         5,518,050  

 
Group has disposed investment property under development with a carrying amount of AED 5.5 million 

during the year for a sale amounting to AED 4.9 million. Fair value measurement hierarchy for 
investment properties under development as follows: 

 
 Date of Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 valuation AED AED AED AED 
      

2021      
  Residential & 

commercial properties 
31 December 2021 - - - - 

      
2020      
  Residential & 

commercial properties 
31 December 2020 5,518,050 - - 5,518,050 

 
    Key    

   Valuation  unobservable Range/ Range/ 
 Fair value Fair value techniques Input average Average 
 2021 2020   2021 2020 
 AED AED     
       
       
Investment properties 

Level 3 
- 5,518,050 

Discounted 
cashflow Unit sales price NA 

50% advance 
payment of 

total cost 
 
 
11 Investment properties 

 

 2021  2020 
 AED  AED 
    

Warehouses        16,060,868            24,060,868  
Building - commercial and residential      225,951,138          234,653,238  

      242,012,006         258,714,106  
 
The movements in the investment properties during the year were as follows: 
 
 2021  2020 

 AED  AED     
At 1 January      258,714,106     306,160,868  
Transfer from investment properties under     
     development (note 10)               75,913       18,053,238  
Transfer to Property and equipment (note 7)                         -       (59,500,000) 
Decrease in fair value of investment properties     (16,778,013)      (6,000,000) 
      242,012,006     258,714,106  
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11 Investment properties (continued) 

 
The fair value measurement for all of the investment properties has been categorised as a Level 3 
fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used as below. 
 
Valuation 
techniques 
 

Significant unobservable inputs Inter-relationship between 
key unobservable inputs and 
fair value measurement 

2021: 
Discounted cash flows: The 
valuation model considers the 
present value of net cash flows to 
be generated from investment 
properties, taking into account the 
expected rental, occupancy rate and 
other costs not paid by tenants.  
 
The expected net cash flows are 
discounted using risk-adjusted 
discount rates. Among other 
factors, the discount rate estimation 
considers the quality of a building 
and its location and lease terms. 
 
2020: 
Investment method 

– Net rent per Square feet:  
       2021:  AED 30 to AED 80 
       2020:  AED 27 to AED  200 
 
– Occupancy rate: 
       2021:     85% to 97%  
       2020:     88% to 90% 
 
– Risk‑adjusted discount rate: 
       2021:     9.06% to 9.56% 
       2020:     7.0%    to 7.5%. 

The estimated fair value 
would increase (decrease) if: 
 
– expected net rent per 

Square feet higher 
(lower); 

 
– the occupancy rates were 

higher (lower); 
 
– the risk‑adjusted discount 

rates were lower (higher). 

 
Investment property comprises a number of commercial and residential properties that are leased 
to third parties. Each of the leases generally contains an initial lease period of 1 year. Subsequent 
renewals are negotiated with the lessee every year.  
 
Changes in fair values are recognised as gains / losses in profit or loss which are included in 
statement of profit or loss as increase / decrease in fair value of investment properties. All gains / 
losses are unrealised. The fair value of Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2021 has 
been arrived by using discounted cash flow model prepared internally by the management as of 31 
December 2021.  
 
The fair value of Group’s investment properties as at 31 December 2020 has been determined based 
on valuations performed during January 2020 by an accredited independent valuer with a 
recognized and relevant professional qualification and with recent experience in the location and 
category of investment properties as well as an internal valuation carried out by the Group’s 
management as at 31 December 2020. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset 
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. 
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11 Investment properties (continued) 

 
Investment properties amounting to AED 225,951,138 (2020: AED 221,600,030) are pledged 
against loans and borrowings (note 24) obtained by the Group to finance the construction of the 
properties. Amounts recognised in statement of profit or loss during the year are as below.: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
   

Rental income (note 4) 32,868,695 34,912,024 
 ============ ============ 
Loss due to change in fair value (note 4)   16,778,013     6,000,000 

 ============ ============ 
 
12 Investments 
 

 2021  2020 
 AED  AED 
    

Investments held at fair value through    
  other comprehensive income   19,738,327     163,068,927  
Investments held at fair value through    
  profit and loss   273,630,705     334,186,853  

 
    

293,369,032   
  497,255,780  

 
Investments carried at fair value through other comprehensive income comprise: 
 
 2021  2020 

 AED  AED 
    

Quoted equity securities inside UAE 14,171,747  152,297,176 
Quoted equity securities outside UAE 3,374,161  5,980,224 
Unquoted equity securities inside UAE 463,935  573,489 
Unquoted equity securities outside UAE 1,728,484  4,218,038 

 19,738,327  163,068,927 
 
Investments carried at fair value through profit and loss comprise: 
 
 2021  2020 

 AED  AED 
    

Quoted equity securities inside UAE 266,494,366  326,102,735 
Investments in mutual funds 421,005  - 
Quoted commodities 4,856,627  2,680,273 
Quoted equity securities outside UAE 1,858,707  5,403,845 
 273,630,705  334,186,853 

 
Investment with carrying value of AED 1.37 million is held by Chairman beneficially on behalf of 
the Group.  
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12 Investments (continued) 
        
 
  The movement in the investments is as follows: 

 
 FVTPL  FVOCI  FVTPL  FVOCI 

 2021  2021  2020  2020 
 AED  AED  AED  AED 
        

At 1 January 334,186,853  163,068,927  288,307,385  145,504,463 
Purchase of Investments 74,337,971  5,868,954  85,721,977  1,356,796 
Disposal of Investments (78,743,497)  (10,603,990)  (135,178,235)  - 
 329,781,327  158,333,891  238,851,127  146,861,259 
Change in fair value 4,999,622  (5,473,566)  95,335,726  16,207,668 
Transfer to equity 
accounted investment 

 
(61,150,244)  

 
(133,121,998)  

 
-  

 
- 

At 31 December 273,630,705  19,738,327  334,186,853  163,068,927 
 
 
The following table shows the fair value analysis of investments measured at fair value by level of 
the fair value hierarchy: 
 
 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 
 AED  AED  AED  AED 
31 December 2021        
Investments at fair value 
through  

  
     

profit and loss        
Quoted shares 273,209,700  -  -  273,209,700 
Mutual funds 421,005  -  -  421,005 
 273,630,705  -  -  273,630,705 
Investments at fair value 
through  

  
     

other comprehensive income        
Quoted shares 17,545,908  -  -  17,545,908 
Unquoted shares -  -  2,192,419  2,192,419 
 17,545,908  -  2,192,419  19,738,327 
Total 291,176,613  -  2,192,419  293,369,032 
       - 
31 December 2020        
Investments at fair value through         
profit and loss        
Quoted shares 334,186,853  -  -  334,186,853 
 334,186,853  -  -  334,186,853 
        
Investments at fair value through         
other comprehensive income        
Quoted shares 158,277,400  -  -  158,277,400 
Unquoted shares -  -  4,791,527  4,791,527 
 158,277,400  -  4,791,527  163,068,927 
Total 492,464,253  -  4,791,527  497,255,780 
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13 Other asset 

 
Other asset represents the right to acquire land located in the Kingdom of Bahrain, from a third 
party. During the year, management has recorded an impairment charge of AED 5.9 million against 
this balance because management believes the asset is not recoverable. 
 

14 Equity-accounted investee 
 

Name Domiciled 
 

% of equity held Principal activities 
2021 2020 

Al Waha Capital PJSC  UAE  8.8034% 8.8034% Investment in a wide range of sectors 
including financial services, capital 
markets, industrial real estates, 
infrastructure, healthcare, fintech and 
oil and gas. 

 

At 1 January 2021, the Group received confirmation from two shareholders (related parties – refer 
note 26) of Al Waha Capital PJSC (“investee”) who own 8.6% and 4% in Al Waha Capital PJSC, 
respectively, stating that they have assigned their voting rights in favour of the Group and will 
represent the Group's interest in the Board of the investee. This assignment resulted in the Group 
having meaningful representation in the Board of Directors of the investee. Accordingly, the 
investee is considered as an associate from 1 January 2021 effective 1 January 2021 with its 
shareholding of 8.8034% as at that date. 
 
The movement in Equity-accounted investee during the period is as follows: 

 
 2021  2020 

 AED  AED 
    

Transferred from investment held at FVTOCI (note 12) 133,121,998  - 
Transferred from investment held at FVTPL (note 12) 61,150,244  - 
Share of profit  34,424,776  - 
Gain on recognition 73,970,500  - 
Dividends (9,711,157)  - 
Share of revaluation reserve (25,090)  - 

 292,931,271  - 
 

Investment in associate securities with a quantity of 65,474,579 are pledged with commercial banks 
for securing term loans (note 24).  
 
The fair value of associate based on quoted market price as at 31 December 2021 amounted to AED 
276.76 million. 
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14 Investment in associate (Continued) 
 
Summarized financial information in respect of the group associate is as follows: 
 
 31 December 

2021 
 AED 
Statement of Financial Position   
Non-current assets 1,147,184,000 
Current assets 8,442,382,000 
Non-current liabilities (284,657,000) 
Current liabilities (4,513,519,000) 
  

Net assets (100%) 4,791,390,000 
  
Total equity 4,791,390,000 
Less: Non-controlling interests (1,479,541,000) 
Equity attributable to the Owners of the Company 3,311,849,000 
  
Adjustments:  
Less: Elimination of existing goodwill from associate’s total assets (56,930,266) 
Add:  Excess of fair value over carrying value of equity accounted investee 
               from associate’s total assets 

 
72,546,885 

 3,327,465,619 
  
Group's share of associate’s net assets attributable to Owners (8.8034%) 292,931,271 
  
  

 Year ended 31 
December 2021 

Statement of profit or loss  
Revenue 301,940,000 
Profit for the year 609,655,000 
  
Profit for the year attributable to:  
Owners of the Company 391,038,000 
Non-controlling interests 218,617,000 
  
Group’s share of profit for the year (attributable to owners) (8.8034%) 34,424,776 
  
  
Other comprehensive loss for the year (285,000) 
  
Group’s share of other comprehensive loss for the year (attributable to owners)       

(8.8034%) 
 

(25,090) 
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15 Inventories 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Goods for resale 25,472,222 38,359,023 
Consumables  2,002,570 2,151,945 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 27,474,792 40,510,968 
Less: allowance for slow moving inventories (1,047,582) (1,324,864) 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 26,427,210 39,186,104 
 ============ ============ 
 
The movement in the allowance for slow moving inventories was as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
At 1 January 1,324,864 754,727 
Charge for the year 300,000 951,356 
Written off during the year (577,282) (381,219) 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 1,047,582 1,324,864 
 ============ ============ 
 
During the year, cost of inventories recognised as expense amounted to AED 33,024,462 (2020: 
AED 55,673,160) and included in “Direct cost”. 
 

 
16 Trade and other receivables 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Trade receivables 33,206,727 50,266,537 
Less: allowance for expected credit losses on trade 
receivables (24,888,943) (24,604,468) 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 8,317,784 25,662,069 
   
Advances to suppliers 3,266,341 4,328,401 
Other receivables 2,232,495 1,531,907 
Less: impairment losses on advance to suppliers  (3,025,307) (3,025,307) 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

 10,791,313 28,497,070 
 ============ ============ 
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16 Trade and other receivables (continued) 

 
The movement in the expected credit losses on the trade receivables during the year was as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
At 1 January  24,604,468 25,545,890 
Charge for the year 284,475 3,291,458 
Written off during the year - (4,232,880) 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
At 31 December 24,888,943 24,604,468 
 ============ ============ 
 
Movement in the allowance for impairment losses on advance to suppliers during the year was as 
follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
At 1 January 3,025,307 4,517,160 
Charge for the year - 2,420,000 
Written off during the year - (3,911,853) 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
At 31 December 3,025,307 3,025,307 
 ============ ============ 
 
As at 31 December, the ageing analysis of trade receivable is as follows: 
 

        
   Past due 
   30 31 - 60 61 – 90 91 – 180 >180 

 Total Current days days days Days Days 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED         

31 December 2021        
Expected credit 
losses rate  3% 8% 7% 16% 11% 99% 
Estimated total 
gross carrying 
amount at default 33,206,727 3,078,054 1,790,835 2,168,151 455,086 1,175,268 24,539,333 
Expected credit 
loss (24,888,943) (90,558) (146,297) (154,271) (74,251) (133,950) (24,289,616) 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 8,317,784 2,987,496 1,644,538 2,013,880 380,835 1,041,318 249,717 
31 December 2020 =========== ========== ========== ========== ========= ========== =========== 
Expected credit 
losses rate  3% 9% 8% 16% 10% 67% 
Estimated total 
gross carrying 
amount at default 50,266,537 2,603,381 1,720,227 1,268,111 1,017,442 8,956,453 34,700,923 
Expected credit 
loss (24,604,468) (75,941) (152,957) (104,210) (160,908) (906,310) (23,204,142) 
 ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 25,662,069 2,527,440 1,567,270 1,163,901 856,534 8,050,143 11,496,781 
 =========== ========== ========== ========== ========= ========== =========== 
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17 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Cash in hand 70,370 78,923 
Cash at banks – current accounts 19,946,768 5,214,320 
 --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Bank balances and cash 20,017,138 5,293,243 
Less: bank overdrafts (note 24) (86,300,144) (200,907,441) 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Cash and cash equivalents (66,283,006) (195,614,198) 
 ============== ============== 
Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities 

 
 At 1 January Cash inflows Cash outflows  31 December 
 AED AED AED AED 
2021      
Term loans 210,978,217 143,876,890 (91,774,475) 263,080,632 
Trust receipts   19,113,140     4,334,825   (19,113,140)     4,334,825 
 230,091,357 148,211,715 (110,887,615) 267,415,457 
 
2020 

    

Term loans 278,124,566 212,133,587 (279,279,936) 210,978,217 
Trust receipts   51,675,232   70,222,543  (102,784,635)   19,113,140 
 329,799,798  282,356,130  (382,064,571) 230,091,357 

 
18 Share capital 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Authorised, allotted, issued and fully paid   
120 million shares of AED 1 each 120,000,000 120,000,000 
 ============== ============== 

 
19 Legal reserve 

 
In accordance with UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015, the Company is required to transfer 10% of 
its profit for the year to a non-distributable legal reserve until the balance of the legal reserve equals 
one half of the Company’s paid up share capital. 
 

20 Regulatory reserve 
 
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, the regulatory reserve account is created 
by appropriation of the net profit at a rate approved by the General Assembly based on the approval 
of the Board of Directors. 
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21 Non-controlling interests 

 
Non-controlling interest represents the minority shareholder’s proportionate share in the aggregate 
value of the net assets of subsidiaries. During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group has 
disposed 0.96% interest in FOODCO National Foodstuff PJSC (FNF), decreasing its ownership 
from 98.75% to 97.79%. 

 
22 Provision for employees end of service benefits 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
At 1 January 3,995,667 4,773,078 
Charge for the year 554,353 482,849 
Payments during the year (835,895) (1,260,260) 
 ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 3,714,125 3,995,667 
 ============= ============ 

 
23 Lease liabilities 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
As at 1 January  15,318,083 23,268,090 
Lease terminated during the year (8,362,093) - 
Addition 2,419,873 - 
Interest expense 522,477 891,781 
Payment during the year (1,169,914) (5,835,031) 
Modification of lease (378,408) (3,006,757) 
 ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 8,350,018 15,318,083 
 ============= ============ 
 
Analysed in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Current liabilities 687,273 8,837,771 
Non-current liabilities 7,662,745 6,480,312 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 8,350,018 15,318,083 
 ============== ============== 

 
The following are the amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets (note 9) 843,438 7,272,184 
Interest expense on lease liabilities 522,477 891,781 
Expense relating to short-term leases  - 641,185 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 1,365,915 8,805,150 
 ============== ============== 
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24 Loans and borrowings 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Bank borrowings 263,080,632 210,978,217 
Trust receipts 4,334,825 19,113,140 
Bank overdrafts* (note 17) 86,300,144 200,907,441 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 353,715,601 430,998,798 
 ============== ============== 
 

*The bank overdrafts are repayable on demand and are secured against certain investments. 
 
The movement in loans and borrowings are as follows: 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   

At 1 January 433,689,789 538,751,612 
Additions during the year 234,511,859 1,479,275,780 
Repayments during the year (311,795,056) (1,585,009,975) 
Finance costs accrued 13,649,363 23,573,237 
Finance costs repaid (15,582,963) (22,900,865)                   
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Balance at 31 December 354,472,992 433,689,789 
 ============== ============== 
 

The break-up of the above-mentioned loans and borrowings is provided below: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   

Loan and borrowings 353,715,601 430,998,798 
Accrued interest (included in trade and other payables) 757,391 2,690,991 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Balance at 31 December 354,472,992 433,689,789 
 ============== ============== 

 
 

  



Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

  

49 

 
24 Loans and borrowings (continued) 

 
Bank overdrafts, trust receipts and secured bank borrowings are repayable as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Current portion 199,770,454 342,761,518 
Non-current portion 153,945,147 88,237,280 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 353,715,601 430,998,798 
 ============== ============== 
Terms and conditions of bank borrowings are as follows: 
 

 
Year of 

maturity 

31 December 2021 31 December 2020 

Loan 
 Carrying amount Carrying amount 
 AED AED 

     
Term loan 1 – Secured 2022  - 22,473,249 
Term loan 2 – Secured 2022  - 6,093,750 
Term loan 3 – Secured 2024  - 27,967,336 
Term loan 4 – Secured 2023  7,500,000 13,500,000 
Term loan 5 – Secured 2024  23,500,000 32,900,000 
Term loan 6 - Secured  2027  17,761,615 20,850,591 
Term loan 7 - Secured  2024  6,000,000 8,000,000 
Term loan 8 - Unsecured  2022  69,000,000 61,364,420 
Term loan 9 - Secured  2020  - 1,315,645 
Term loan 10 – Unsecured 2022  4,492,807 4,370,591 
Term loan 11 – Unsecured 2021  - 4,198,534 
Term loan 12 – Unsecured 2022  1,059,213 7,944,101 
Term loan 13 – Secured 2031  120,000,000 - 
Term loan 14 – Secured 2025  10,024,513 - 
Term loan 15 – Unsecured 2023  3,742,484 - 
   ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Total   263,080,632 210,978,217 
   ============== ============== 
 
 

Term loan 1 
The loan was obtained in June 2017 from a local bank. The loan was repayable in quarterly 
instalments in accordance with a repayment schedule starting from 2017 until 2022. The loan bears 
an interest rate at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. This loan was fully settled during 
the year ended 31 December 2021. 
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24 Loans and borrowings (continued) 

 
Term loan 2 
The loan was obtained in May 2016 from a local bank for AED 50,000 thousand. The loan was 
repayable with semi-annual rollover / instalments starting from 2018 until 2022.The purpose of the 
loan is to support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears an interest rate at 
market interest rates plus an applicable margin. This loan was fully settled during the year ended 
31 December 2021. 
 
Term loan 3 
The loan was obtained in April 2017 from a local bank for AED 30,737 thousand. The loan was 
repayable in 20 quarterly instalments starting from 2020 until 2024. The loan bears an interest rate 
at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. This loan was fully settled during the year ended 
31 December 2021. 
 
Term loan 4  
The loan was obtained in February 2018 from a local bank. The loan is repayable in quarterly 
instalments starting from 2018 until 2023. The purpose of the loan is to support the Group’s 
working capital requirements. The loan bears interest at market interest rates plus an applicable 
margin. 
 
Term loan 5 
The loan is a revolving loan obtained in April 2019 from a local bank. The loan is repayable in 
quarterly instalments starting from 2018 until 2024. The purpose of the loan is to support the 
Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears interest at market interest rates plus an 
applicable margin. 
 
Term loan 6 
The loan was obtained in December 2019 from a local bank. The loan is repayable in quarterly 
instalments starting from 2019 until 2027. The loan bears interest at market interest rates plus an 
applicable margin. 
 
Term loan 7 
The loan was obtained in December 2019 from a local bank. The loan is repayable in quarterly 
instalments starting from 2020 until 2024. The purpose of the loan is to support the Group's working 
capital requirements. The loan bears interest at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. 
 
Term loan 8 
The loan is a revolving loan obtained in June 2014 from a local bank for AED 75,000 thousand. 
The purpose of the loan is to support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears 
interest at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. 
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24 Loans and borrowings (continued) 

 
Term loan 9 
The loan was obtained from a local bank for AED 5,000 thousand. The purpose of the loan is to 
support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears an interest rate at market interest 
rates plus an applicable margin. This loan was fully settled during the year ended 31 December 
2021. 
 
Term loan 10 
The loan is a revolving loan obtained in October 2019 from an international bank for USD 7 million. 
The purpose of the loan is to support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears  
interest at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. 
 
Term loan 11 
The loan is a revolving loan obtained in November 2020 from a local bank for AED 4,198 thousand. 
The purpose of loan is to support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears interest 
at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. This loan was fully settled during the year ended 
31 December 2021. 
 
Term loan 12 
The loan is a revolving loan obtained in November 2020 from a local bank for AED 7,944 thousand. 
The purpose of loan is to support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears interest 
at market interest rates plus an applicable margin. 
 
Term loan 13 
The loan was obtained from a local bank for AED 120,000 thousand. The purpose of the loan is to 
support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears interest at market interest rates 
plus an applicable margin.  
 
Term loan 14 
The loan was obtained from a local bank for AED 11,251 thousand. The purpose of the loan is to 
support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears interest at market interest rates 
plus an applicable margin.  
 
Term loan 15 
The loan was obtained from a local bank for AED 4,990 thousand. The purpose of the loan is to 
support the Group’s working capital requirements. The loan bears interest at market interest rates 
plus an applicable margin.  
 
The Group’s unutilized credit facilities as at 31 December 2021 amounted to AED 98,293,107 
(2020: AED 199,309,145). The unutilized limits are mainly for overdrafts and trust receipts 
facilities which are utilized as per the business requirements.  
 
Also, refer to interest rate disclosure (note 30). 
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25 Trade and other payables 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Trade payables (note 25.1) 37,988,755 21,324,488 
Accruals (note 25.2) 24,396,180 24,318,437 
Advances from customers 4,788,911 17,016,174 
Retention payable (note 25.3) 4,726,621 4,947,097 
Other payables 6,262,467 1,933,223 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 78,162,934 69,539,419 
 ============== ============== 
 
 

25.1 Included in trade payable, is an amount payable of AED 11,133,850 (2020: AED 76,570) to a stock 
broker which is a related party of the Group. Brokerage fees for the year amounted to AED 422,923 
(2020: AED 16,324). 

 
25.2 Included in accruals, is an amount payable of AED 5,916,860 (2020: Nil) to an investment 

consultancy Company which is a related party of the Group. Investment consultancy expense 
amounted to AED 5,916,860 (2020: Nil). 
 

25.3 Included in retention payable, is an amount payable of AED 4,726,621 (2020: AED 4,726,621) to 
a contractor, who is a related party, for the construction of C-3 and C-10 buildings. There were no 
transactions during the year. 
   

26 Related parties transactions and balances 
 
Related parties comprise the Shareholders, directors and key management of the Group and entities 
in which they have the ability to control and exercise significant influence in financial and operating 
decisions. Pricing policies and terms of these transactions are approved by the Group’s 
management. 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Amounts due from related parties   
Directors 1,163,922 834,342 
Shareholders 80,061 468,438 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 1,243,983 1,302,780 
 ============== ============== 
Amounts due to related parties   
Directors 1,371 1,522,157 
Shareholders 657,593 927,062 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 658,964 2,449,219 
 ============== ============== 
 
 
 
 
 



Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

  

53 

 
26 Related parties transactions and balances (Continued) 

 
The Group’s balances with related parties for providing construction services, broker margin 
account facility and investment consultants are included in the consolidated statement of financial 
position are as follows: 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Trade and other payables (note 25)   
Included in retention payable (Shareholder)  4,726,621 4,726,621 
Included in trade payables (Common directorship) 11,133,850 76,570 
Included in accruals (Common directorship) 5,916,860 - 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 21,777,331 4,803,191 
 ============== ============== 
 
Transactions with related parties are carried at agreed rates and are to be settled on demand. The transactions 
are disclosed below: (also refer note 25) 
 
 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Sales (Shareholders and Directors) 1,284,480 715,463 
 ============== ============== 
Purchases (Shareholder) 180,347 1,112,022 
 ============== ============== 

 
Key management personnel compensation 
 

The remuneration of members of key management during the year was as follows: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Management compensation 200,290 1,021,129 
Short term benefits 2,355,065 9,130,988 
Employees’ end of service benefits 537,425 14,788 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Total 3,092,780 10,166,905 
 ============== ============== 

 
At 1 January 2021, the Group received confirmation from two shareholders of Al Waha Capital PJSC 
("investee"), where one is a significant shareholder and other is key management personnel of the 
Group, stating that they have assigned their voting rights in favour of the Group and will represent 
the Group's interest in the Board of the investee.  

  



Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

  

54 

 
 

27 Basic and diluted earnings per share 
 

Basic and diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the Company by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the 
year. 
 

The following reflects the profit and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share 
computations: 
 2021 2020 
   
   
 
Profit for the year, year, attributable to the owners of 
the Company (AED) 

 
116,378,013 

 
56,189,217 

 ============== ============== 
 
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares issued  

 
120,000,000 

 
120,000,000 

 ============== ============== 
Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 0.97 0.47 
 ============== ============== 

 

28 Contingencies and capital commitments 
 

Contingent liabilities 
 

As at reporting date, the following contingent liabilities were outstanding: 
 

 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
   
Bank guarantees 2,651,503 15,907,758 
 ============== ============== 
Letter of Credit 300,287 - 
 ============== ============== 
The above bank guarantees were issued in the normal course of business. 
   
Capital commitments   
As at reporting date, the capital commitments relate to the following: 
 2021 2020 

 AED AED 
   
Purchase of land  - 5,434,050 
 ============== ============== 



Foodco Holding PJSC 
 
Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
 

55 

 
29 Segment information 

 
IFRS 8 requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the Chief 
Operating Officer in order to allocate resources to the segment and to assess its performance. 
 
For operating purposes, the Group is organised into four major business segments: 
 
i) Investing in securities ("Investment in securities"); 
ii) Investing in properties ("Investment properties"); 
iii) Marine, air and land shipment services along with management and operation of store and warehouses ("Freight forwarding and storage"); and 
iv) Wholesale and distribution of food products ("Trading"). 
 
Transactions between segments are conducted at rates determined by management taking into consideration the cost of funds 
 
The segment assets and liabilities are as follows: 
 
        
    Freight    
 Investment Investment  forwarding    
 in securities properties Trading and storage Others Eliminations Consolidated 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 
At 31 December 2021        
Assets 1,053,124,167 264,770,561 196,350,584 61,668,413 2,843,142 (620,862,874) 957,893,993 
 ========== ========= ========= ======== ======= ========= ========= 
Liabilities 411,049,864 251,533,808 35,704,192 76,989,411 45,094 (330,720,727) 444,601,642 
 ========== ========= ========= ======== ======= ========= ========= 
At 31 December 2020        
Assets 964,793,066 63,320,484 242,352,136 54,928,209 2,818,443 (407,440,252) 920,772,086 
 ========= ======== ========= ======== ======= ========= ========= 
Liabilities 460,061,247 51,017,740 14,416,396 11,025,851 45,094 (14,265,142) 522,301,186 
 ========= ======== ========= ======== ======= ========= ========= 
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29 Segment information (continued) 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2021: 
 
   Freight     
 Investment Investment forwarding     
 in securities properties and storage Trading Others Elimination Consolidated 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 
        
Revenue – external 51,514,770 32,868,695 5,171,241 33,944,220 - - 123,498,926 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
Revenue – internal - 1,407,342 6,747,695 - - (8,155,037) - 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
Profit (loss) for the year 131,112,060 4,529,655 (2,244,845) (15,755,647) (24,000) (1,675,223) 115,942,000 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2020: 
 
   Freight     
 Investment Investment forwarding     
 in securities properties and storage Trading Others Elimination Consolidated 
 AED AED AED AED AED AED AED 
        
Revenue – external 104,569,008 34,912,024 3,946,651 58,901,070 - - 202,328,753 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
Revenue – internal - 1,742,667 14,866,874 31,757 - (16,641,298) - 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 
Profit (loss) for the year 70,210,511 11,109,153 (5,360,536) (20,103,029) 14,362 - 55,870,461 
 ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= ========= 

 
 

All the revenue is generated from operations within UAE. 
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30 Financial risk management policies 
 

Introduction 
 

Risk is inherent in the Group’s activities and is managed through a process of ongoing 
identification, measurement and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other controls. This process 
of risk management is critical to the Group’s profitability and each individual within the Group is 
accountable for the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Group’s activities 
expose it to a variety of financial risks: credit risk, market risk (including currency risk and cash 
flow interest rate risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
Group’s financial performance. 
 

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the 
environment, technology and industry. They are monitored through the Group’s strategic planning 
process. 
 
Risk management is carried out by management under policies approved by the Board of Directors. 
Management identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s 
operating units. The Board of Directors provide principles for overall risk management, as well as 
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of 
derivative financial instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess 
liquidity. 
 

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risk, the Group’s policies and procedures include 
guidelines to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks 
are controlled and managed accordingly. 
 

Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument 
or customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Group seeks to limits its credit risk with 
respect to trade and other receivables by monitoring outstanding receivables. Credit risk is limited 
to the carrying values of financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. The 
Group manages its credit risk with respect to banks by dealing with reputable banks. 
 
The Group is potentially exposed to conception of credit risk from its financial assets which 
comprises principally bank balances, trade and other receivables and amounts due from related 
parties. 
 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 
The carrying value of total financial assets table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk 
for the components of the consolidated statement of financial position:  
 

 Maximum Maximum 
 exposure exposure 
                                                                                     Note 2021 2020 
 AED AED 
 

Trade and other receivables                                            16 10,791,313 28,497,070 
Bank balances (excluding cash in hand)                         17 19,946,768 5,214,320 
Amounts due from related parties                                   26 1,243,983 1,302,780 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

Total credit risk exposure 31,982,064 35,014,170 
 ============== ============== 
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30 Financial risk management policies (continued) 

 
Credit risk (continued) 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk continued 
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure 
expected credit losses. The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various 
customer segments with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-weighted 
outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available at 
the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
Generally, trade receivables are fully provided for if past due for more than one year and are not 
subject to enforcement activity. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the 
carrying value of each class of financial assets. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities at maturity date. 
 
The Group limits its liquidity risk by ensuring maintaining adequate reserves by continuously 
monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets 
and liabilities. 
 
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities. The contractual 
maturities of liabilities have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the reporting 
date to the contractual maturity date on an undiscounted basis and do not take account of the 
effective maturities. 
 
 Carrying Contractual 1 year More than 
 value cash flows or less 1 year 
 AED AED AED AED 
     
At 31 December 2021     
Trade and other payables 
(excluding advances) 

 
73,374,023 

 
(73,374,023) 

 
(73,374,023) 

- 

Amounts due to related parties 658,964 (658,964) (658,964) - 
Lease liabilities 8,350,018 )15,066,979(  (1,169,914) (13,897,065) 
Loans and borrowings 353,715,601 (365,161,792) (300,172,035) (64,989,757) 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Total 436,098,606 (454,261,758) (375,374,936) (78,886,822) 
 ============== ============== ============== ============== 
At 31 December 2020     
Trade and other payables 
(excluding advances) 

 
52,523,245 

 
(52,523,245) 

 
(52,523,245) 

- 

Amounts due to related parties 2,449,219 (2,449,219) (2,449,219) - 
Lease liabilities 15,318,083  (22,544,291) (9,377,768) (13,166,523) 
Loans and borrowings 430,998,798 (456,817,903) (359,886,135) (96,931,768) 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Total 501,289,345 (534,334,658) (424,236,367) (110,098,291) 
 ============== ============== ============== ============== 
 
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. However, management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its 
customer base, including the default risk associated with the industry and country in which 
customers operate. 
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30 Financial risk management policies (continued) 

 
Market risk 
 
Market risk arises from fluctuations in interest rates and currency rates. The management monitors 
the market risk on an ongoing basis and on any significant transaction. 
 
Currency risk 
Foreign currency risk comprises of transaction and consolidated statement of financial position 
risk. Transaction risk relates to the Group’s cash flow being adversely affected by a change in the 
exchange rates of foreign currencies against UAE Dirham. Consolidated statement of financial 
position risk relates to the risk of the Group’s monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies 
acquiring a lower or higher value, when translated into UAE Dirham, as a result of currency 
movements. 
 
The Group frequently deals in US Dollars, Bahraini Dinar, Omani Riyal, Saudi Riyal, Syrian Pound 
and Euro. As the US Dollar is pegged to the UAE Dirham, balances in this currency are not 
considered to represent significant foreign currency risk.  
 
The table below calculates the effect of a reasonably possible movement of AED currency rate 
(with a sensitivity of 10% increase or decrease in currency rates) against the following currencies, 
with all other variables held constant, a decrease of 10% in currency rates on the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss: 
 

 US 
Dollar 

Bahraini 
Dinar 

Omani 
Riyal 

Syrian  
Pound 

 
EURO 

At 31 December 2021      
Financial assets  
(at respective currencies) 

 
1,529,228 

 
46,394 

 
38,067 

 
2,414,124,599 

 
- 

 ========== ========= ========== =============== ========== 
Financial assets  
(AED) 

 
5,618,383 

 
463,935 

 
363,647 

 
3,529,898 

 
- 

 ========== ========= ========== ============== ========== 
Effect on profit for the year  
(AED) 

 
- 

 
46,393 

 
36,365 

 
352,990 

 
- 

 ========== ========= ========== =============== ========== 
At 31 December 2020       
Financial assets  
(at respective currencies) 

 
1,826,032 

 
49,647 

 
28,346 

 
2,427,001,634 

 
20,016 

 ========== ========= ========== =============== ========== 
Financial assets 6,708,840 483,689 270,479 7,096,855 89,800 
 ======= ====== ======= ========== ======= 
Effect on profit for the year 
(AED) 

 
- 

 
48,369 

 
27,048 

 
709,686 

 
8,980 

 ======= ====== ======= =========== ======= 
The increase would have an opposite impact. 
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30 Financial risk management policies (continued) 

 

Market risk (continued) 
 
Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect future cash 
flows or the fair values of financial instruments. The following table demonstrates the sensitivity 
to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the 
Group’s profit based on the floating rate financial instruments held at 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020. The aggregate exposure as of 31 December 2021 amounted to AED 353,715,601 
(2020: AED 430,998,798). 
 
 Increase Impact on profit 
 in basis points or (loss) 
 

31 December 2021 +100 3,537,156 
AED -100 (3,537,156) 
   
 

31 December 2020 
AED +100 4,309,988 
 -100 (4,309,988) 
 
 
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform: 
On 27 August 2020 the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB or the Board) published 
‘Interest Rate Benchmark reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and 
IFRS 16 (IBOR reform Phase 2). IBOR reform Phase 2 includes a number of reliefs and additional 
disclosures. The reliefs apply upon the transition of a financial instrument from an Interbank offered 
rate (“IBOR”) to an alternative risk-free benchmark reference rate (“RFR”). 
 
As per the Phase 2 amendments, changes to the basis for determining contractual cash flows as a 
result of interest rate benchmark reform are required as a practical expedient to be treated as 
changes to a floating interest rate, provided that, for the financial instrument, the transition from 
the IBOR benchmark rate to RFR takes place on an economically equivalent basis. This may 
include the addition of a fixed spread to compensate for a basis difference between the existing 
IBOR benchmark and alternative RFR, changes to reset period, reset dates or number of days 
between coupon payment dates that are necessary to effect reform of an IBOR benchmark and the 
addition of any fallback provision to the contractual terms of a financial instrument that allow any 
of the above changes to be made. Any other change to contractual terms would be assessed under 
the Group’s accounting policies for financial assets modifications, including an assessment of 
whether derecognition of the original instrument is required. 
 
The Group has assessed the impact of above standard. Based on the assessment, management noted 
that all the borrowing are linked to EIBOR which is not ceasing. Hence, the borrowings will not be 
impacted by the reform/transition. Accordingly, there is no impact on the financial statements of 
the Group as at the reporting date as a result of IBOR reform. 
 
Capital management  
 

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that the Group maintains 
healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and to maximise shareholders’ value. 
 

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. There are no regulatory imposed requirements on the level of share capital 
which the Group has not met. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the 
dividend payment to the shareholders or inject share capital. Capital comprises share capital, legal 
reserve, regulatory reserve, fair value reserve, retained earnings and non-controlling interests. 
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30 Financial risk management policies (continued) 

 

Capital management (continued) 
 

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net debt divided by total capital plus net 
debt. The Group includes within net debt, borrowings, lease liabilities, trade and other payables, 
amounts due to related parties, less bank balances and cash. 
   2021 2020 
 Note AED AED 
 

Borrowings 24 353,715,601 430,998,798 
Lease liabilities 23 8,350,018 15,318,083 
Trade and other payables 25 78,162,934 69,539,419 
Amounts due to related parties 26 658,964 2,449,219 
Less: bank balances and cash 17 (20,017,138) (5,293,243) 
  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Net debt  420,870,379 513,012,276 
Total capital  513,292,351 398,470,900 
  ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
Capital and net debt  934,162,730 911,483,176 
 

Gearing ratio  45% 56% 
  ============== ============== 

 

31 Fair values of financial instruments 
 

All of the Group’s financial assets are measured at amortised cost except for investment in securities 
which are measured at fair value. All the financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost. The fair 
values of financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying values 
as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

Breakdown of financial assets are as follows: 
   2021 2020 
 Note AED AED 
 

Trade and other receivables                                            16 10,791,313 28,497,070 
Bank balances (excluding cash in hand)                        17 19,946,768 5,214,320 
Amounts due from related parties                                   26 1,243,983 1,302,780 
Investments held at fair value through other  
   comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)                           12   19,738,327    163,068,927 
Investments held at fair value  
   through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)                                12 273,630,705    334,186,853 
 ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ ------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

 325,351,096 532,269,950 
 ============== ============== 
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32 Accounting estimates and judgments 

 

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 2 (d), 
management has used estimates and made following judgement that have the most significant effect 
on the amounts of assets and liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements. Estimates 
and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
 

Judgments  
 

Equity accounted investee 
In determining the nature of the arrangement entered into with respect to the equity accounted 
investee, the management exercised key judgements in respect of whether or not significant 
influence is established by the Group in the investee upon holding 8.8034% of the ownership 
interest. In determining this, management made an assessment about whether the Group has 
significant influence on account of the assignment of the voting rights by two shareholders who also 
own shares in the investee. Management’s assessment resulted in the Group having a significant 
influence due to meaningful representation in the Board of Directors of the equity accounted 
investee. (refer to note 14) 
 

            Estimates 
 

Useful lives of property and equipment 
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment for 
calculating depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering the expected usage of the 
asset or physical wear and tear. Management reviews the residual values and useful lives annually 
and the future depreciation charge is adjusted where management believes that the useful lives 
differ from previous estimates. Where management determines that the useful life or residual value 
of an asset requires amendment, the net book amount in excess of the residual value is depreciated 
over the revised remaining useful life. (refer to note 7) 
 
Valuation of properties 
Investment properties are stated at fair value as at the consolidated statement of financial position 
date. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values are included in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss in the year in which they arise. The fair values of investment properties 
are determined by management through an in-house valuation model. The valuation techniques 
adopted comprise the discounted cashflow method.  
 
The determination of the fair value of investment properties requires the use of estimates such as 
future cash flows from assets and discount rates applicable to those assets. These estimates are 
based on local market conditions existing at the consolidated statement of financial position date. 
In arriving at their estimates of fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, management have 
used their market knowledge and professional judgment and have not only relied solely on historic 
transactional comparables. (refer to note 11) 
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32 Accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

 
Estimates (continued) 
 
Impairment of inventories 
Inventories are held at the lower of cost and net realisable value. When inventories become old or 
obsolete, an estimate is made of their net realisable value. For individually significant amounts this 
estimation is performed on an individual basis. Amounts which are not individually significant, but 
which are old or obsolete, are assessed collectively and a provision applied according to the 
inventory type and the degree of ageing or obsolescence, based on anticipated selling prices. (refer 
to note 15) 
 
Provision for expected credit losses for trade and other receivables 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables. The provision 
rates are based on days past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss 
patterns (i.e., by operating segment, product type, customer type and rating, and coverage by letters 
of credit and other forms of credit insurance).  
 
The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed default rates. The Group 
then calibrates the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking 
information. At every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are updated and changes 
in the forward-looking estimates are analysed. 
 
The assessment of the correlation between historical observed default rates, forecast economic 
conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in 
circumstances and of forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience 
and forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of customer’s actual default in 
the future. 
 
The Group has also performed the specific assessment for some customers based on the risk profile 
to calculate the ECL using the simplified approach. (refer to note 16) 
 

33 COVID-19 
 

The widespread of the Covid-19 since the beginning of 2020 is a fluid and challenging situation 
facing all industries. The Group had performed an assessment of the overall impact of the situation 
on the Group's operations, including the recoverability of the carrying amount of assets, 
measurements of its assets and liabilities. Management is of the opinion that the situation will not 
have a material financial impact on the Group’s results for the next financial year. 
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Introduction: 
 
FOODCO Holding PJSC hereinafter referred to as Foodco and / or the Company effectively applies the 
principles of corporate governance due to the keenness of the Board of Directors to protect and 
maximize the shareholders' equity; the Company is committed to apply the principles of Corporate 
Governance in accordance with the Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) Resolution No. (3/RM 
of 2020) concerning the regulations of Corporate Governance and standards of institutional discipline 
 
The Board of Directors adopted a Corporate Governance guide which includes a set of rules and policies, 
and by which the commercial, financial and administrative operations of the company are managed and 
monitored to achieve its goals and plans in order to ensure compliance with the best corporate 
governance practices and standards of institutional discipline. This helps the Board of Directors to 
exercise the responsibilities entrusted to it by the Company its shareholders. The Board of Directors may 
modify some of these regulations or dispense some of them as they deem appropriate in accordance 
with their accumulated experiences or as required by the applicable laws and regulations. 
 
Regulation also stipulates that these rules, regulations and policies are binding on all members of the 
Board of Directors, Executive Management, Managers and Employees, and may be amended only by a 
decision of the Board. 
 

1. The company's commitment to implement corporate governance: 
 
In FY 2021, the Company implemented following to comply with the Commodities Authority (SCA) 
Resolution No. (3/RM of 2020) concerning the regulations of Corporate Governance and standards of 
institutional discipline. 
 

1- The Board of Directors held five meetings as well as one General Assembly has been held. 
2- The Company used to disclose its quarterly financial results annual financial statements duly 

audited its external auditors within the allowed deadline. Also, the company disclosed the most 
important decisions taken by the Board of Directors and sent copies of those decisions to the 
Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA).   

3- Four Audit Committee and two Nomination and Remuneration Committee meetings were held. 
Written reports were submitted to the Board of Directors with the recommendations, and 
implementation for follow-up.  

4- The independent members of the Board of Directors signed the independence form prepared by the 
Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) and the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
periodically made sure of their independence and that there was no change in their situation. 

5- The company has disclosed the changes in the executive senior management as soon as they 
happened.  

6- Investor Relations page on the Company's website was updated periodically with the disclosures 
and information.   
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1. Board of Directors trading in the company shares  
 

FOODCO   Holding PJSC has adopted a policy approved by the Board of Directors considering the corporate 
governance guidelines. This policy defines the rules with respect to trading of the Board members in company 
shares. Further, the policy aims are maintenance the good reputation of the Company board of directors and 
management also enhance the confidence of the investors in the company that the board members and 
employees do not exploit insider information for their own benefit  
FOODCO Holding PJSC applies all regulations issued by the Board of Directors of the Securities and 
Commodities Authority, as a part of the policy pursued by the government to monitor the Securities and 
commodity market and to prevent manipulation and to maintain the principle of transparency of information  
 

The most important policies are temporarily restricting the dealings of board members, senior executives and 
the related person: 
 

These individuals are prohibited from dealing in any security of the Company during the following periods: 
 

1- 10 working days before the announcement of any material information that would affect the share price. 
2- 15 days before the end of the quarterly and annual financial period until the disclosure of financial 

statements. 

FOODCO Insiders may trade in the shares of the company from time to time, by complying with the 
following: 
A. investor strategy, so that his/her trade does not take the form of speculation. In general, Insiders may 

not change the direction of investment at any week of the sale to purchase or vice versa. 

Disclosure: 
The Board of Directors of FOODCO Holding PJSC are committed to disclosure of their transactions in the 
company's securities in accordance with the mechanisms described above as follows: 
 

a) Member of The Board of Directors, senior executives, Company secretary and their relatives, should 
submit a report that shows his/her direct and indirect interests of in the company shares or should submit 
a declaration denying the same.  

b) A summary of the labor contract with Members of the Board of Directors and Chief Executive Officer if 
any should be provided with details of all contracts that the CEO or CFO or members of the Board of 
Directors and their relatives may have substantial interest should be submitted, or denial of the same. 

Members of the Board of Directors and senior executives of the company have submitted the Insiders 
declarations according to the internal regulations in this regard. 
  

The statement of the board members and their first-degree relatives trading in the securities of the 
company during the year 2018.  
 

Name Position/ 
relationship 

Shares held 
as of 

31/12/2020 

Total Sale 
Transactions 

Total 
Purchase 

Transactions 
Ahmed Ali Khalfan Al Dhaheri Chairman 1,671,798 - 154,217 
Rashed Darwish Al Ketbi Vice Chairman 1,800 - - 
Dr. Mohamed Ali Al Hosani Board Member 25,596 - - 
Mohamed Saeed Al Qubaisi Board Member 145,305 - - 
Mohamed Ali KhalfanAl Dhaheri Board Member 3,600 - - 
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2. The Board of Directors  

The members of the Board of Directors of the Company are keen to run the business with values and 
ethics that leads to good decision making. The Board consist of members with variety of specialties 
include Accounting, strategic planning, Legal, Marketing, human resources, Governance, risk 
management, mergers and acquisitions and other expertise that ensure transparency and accountability. 
 

The current board consists of five members. The majority are non-executive directors and two-thirds 
are independent members. The independent members have signed the declaration of independence 
form prepared by the Securities and Commodities Authority. 

 

Members of the Board of Directors: 
 

Ahmed Bin Ali Khalfan Al Dhaheri  
(The Chairman) 

Non-executive The term of membership since 
the first election: 19 years.  

 

Mr. Al Dhaheri is a holder of a BS in Accounting from the College of Administration and Economics 
from the American University of Seattle, a Chartered Public Accountant Certificate from California, 
Higher Diploma in Business Administration - Accounting Specialization - with honors from the Higher 
Colleges of Technology in Abu Dhabi. 
He began his career as a sales manager at Ali and Sons Co, and served as Vice Chairman of the Board 
and Executive Director of the Group of Companies Ali & Sons since 1998 AD and since July 2014 he has 
become the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Group of Companies Ali & Sons, in addition to 
his duties as a member of the boards of directors of several other companies. He has worked as a Board 
member of Al Qudra Holding Company, also he has worked for more than five years as a member of 
the Board of Directors of the Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Abu Dhabi.  CEO of Injaz Mena 
Investment Company and the General Manager and Executive Managing Director of the Abu Dhabi 
National Foodstuff Company. 
 

Rashed Darwish Ahmed Saif Al Ketbi 
(Vice Chairman)  

Independent The term of membership since 
the first election: 7 years 

 

Mr. Al Ketbi is a Bachelor of Science in Commerce from the University of Indiana (USA 1984) and an 
MBA from St. Louis University (USA 1986). He is currently President and CEO of RDK Group of 
Companies, Chairman of Gulf Concrete Molding Company and Shanghai Arab Electromechanical 
Company, Vice Chairman and Managing Director of Al Wathba National Insurance Company, Vice 
Chairman of Darwish Bin Ahmed & Sons. He is also a member of the Board of Directors of Waha Capital 
PJSC. 
 

He worked as CFO and CEO for Darwish Bin Ahmed & Sons Co. (1995-2012), Assistant Undersecretary 
for Financial Affairs and Administration, Ministry of Health (1991-1995), and Financial and 
Administrative Director of Saif Bin Darwish (1986-1991). He also was a board member of United Arab 
Bank PJSC. 
 

Dr. Mohamed Ali Khamis Mohamed Al Hosani  Independent   The term of membership since 
the first election: 27 years.  

 

Dr. Hossani is a holder PhD in Business Management from Berkeley University (USA), Diploma & 
master’s degree of Management in Investment and Finance, University of Hull (UK), Bachelor of 
Computer Science, Mathematics and Statistics, Institute of Information Management (UK), Certified 
Management Accountant (CMA), Fellow of the Information Systems Management Association, Fellow 
of the British Management Association. 
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He is currently the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of Amwal Holding and a Board 
member of Sense Gourmet Food Co. (PSC),  Al Salam Bank- Sudan, Al Salam Bank- Algeria and Emarati 
Group. 
He worked as Chief Executive Officer of Al-oula Investment Company, General Manager of Saadiyat 
Free Zone Authority, Deputy Director of Treasury Department, Abu Dhabi Investment Authority, 
Assistant General Manager of Abu Dhabi Investment Company and CEO of Abu Dhabi National 
Foodstuff Company, Member of the Board of Directors of the Lebanese Bank of Commerce (France)  
From 1996 to 1999 he was President of the UAE Financial Markets Association (France). He was one of 
the founders of the Abu Dhabi Securities Market and the Dubai Financial Market in 1999 and 2000 and 
was the Chief of Technical Analysts in UAE and UK. 
 

Mohamed Saeed Abduallah Mosalam Al Qubaisi Independent   The term of membership since 
the first election: 13 years.  

 

Mr. Al Qubaisi has distinctive business and investment experience in many areas as oil fields, insurance, 
banking, education and others. He Owns and manages several private institutions (Mohammed Al 
Qubaisi Projects, Al Najma Services, Al Najma Security Services, Tawam Agriculture). He worked as 
chairman and member of many boards of directors of local and foreign companies and institutions. He 
was a member of the Board of Directors of the Abu Dhabi Chamber of Commerce and Industry from 
1982 to 1991 and was re-elected to the membership again for the period 2006-2009 
 

Mohamed Ali  Khalfan Al Mutawa Al Dhaheri  Non-
Executive 

The term of membership since 
the first election: 13 years.  

 

Mr. Mohamed Al Dhaheri is bachelor’s in finance from the New York Institute of Abu Dhabi and a 
Higher Diploma in Finance from the Higher Technical College of Abu Dhabi. He started his career as 
Customer Relations Manager at Ali & Sons Automotive Company and Director of ABT (Sports Cars). 
He is currently Board Member and Managing Director of Ali & Sons Group Holding L.L.C. 
 

A) Statement of the members of the Board of Directors' in other companies” 

Member’s Name Membership in other Companies 
(regulatory, governmental, 
commercial)  

 Position  

Ahmed Bin Ali Al Dhaheri  
(The Chairman) 

Abu Dhabi Aviation Company 
Al Wathba National Insurance Co. 
Waha Capital Company. 
Al Ramz Corporation 

Board Member  
Board Member  
Vice Chairman 
 Board Member  

Rashed Darwish Al Ketbi 
Vice Chairman 

Al Wathba National Insurance Co. 
Waha Capital Company. 

Managing Director & 
Vice Chairman 

Mohamed Ali Al Hossani Foodco National Foodstuff Co. PSC 
AlEmarati Group (PSC) 
Al Salam Bank – Sudan 

Chairman 
Chairman 
Board Member 

Mohamed Saeed Al Qubaisi Al Wathba National Insurance Co. Board Member 
Mohamed Ali Al Dhaheri Foodco National Foodstuff Co. PSC Vice Chairman 

 

B) There is no female Representation in the Board of Directors  

C) No females were nominated for the membership of the Board of Directors. 
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D) Directors' Remunerations: 
 

1. was the total paid remuneration to the Board of directors for the year 2020. 
2. A board remuneration of AED1,270,000/- will be proposed to the General Assembly which 

scheduled to be held in April 2022. 
 

3. Details of allowances for attending the sessions of the committees derived from the Board of 
Directors, which were paid to the BOD member for the fiscal year 2021:   

 

 
Name 

Allowances for attending the BOD Committees 

Name of Committee allowances 
amount 

Number of 
Meetings 

Mohamed Ali Al Hosni Audit Comt + Nom & Rem Comt 50,000   4+2 
Mohamed Saeed  Al Qubaisi Audit Comt + Nom & Rem Comt 5,000 1+0 
Mohamed Ali  Al Dhaheri Nom & Rem Comt 10,000   2 

 
4. Other remuneration paid to the Board Members  

NA 
 
 

 

E) Board of Directors Meetings held during the financial year ended December 31, 2021: 

  
 

F) During the year 2021, two Approval By Circulation were issued by the Board on May 13, and August 18.  
G) No Board of Directors’ tasks or functions were performed by the Executive Management pursuant 

to an authorization by the Board of Director to the Management during 2021. 
  

H) Statement of details of transactions made with related parties (stakeholders) during 2021: 

Related Party  Sales Purchase Description 

Board Members           407,751   Foodstuff  

Major Shareholders           527,647          (370,186) Foodstuff/Services/Insurance. 

 

 
 

  

SN Date of Meeting Number of 
Attendees 

Number of 
Attendance 

by Proxy 

Names of Absent members 

1 March 15 4 - Mohamed Al Qubaisi 
2 March 25 4 - Mohamed Al Qubaisi 
3 April 26 5 - - 
4 July 18 3 1 Ahmed Al Dhaheri/Mohamed Al Qubaisi 
5 November 10 5 - - 
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I) Organization Structure 

 

J) A detailed statement of senior executive staff( 1st & 2nd row of Organization Structure): 

SL Position  Date of 
Appointment 

 Total Salaries 
and Allowances 

paid in 2021 
(AED)  

 Total 
Bonuses paid 

in 2021  
(AED) 

Any other 
cash/in-kind 
benefits for 
2021 paid 

1 CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER   01/10/2018     724,524     108,000  - 

2 FNFS GANERAL MANAGER  01/12/2019     532,584  - - 

3 5PL SOLUTIONS Director in Charge 26/12/2017     265,812       14,300  - 

4 FINANCE Controller 01/07/2009     221,941    16,087  - 

5 INVESTMENT DIRECTOR 13/03/2014        51,979  - - 
6 REAL ESTATE & FACILITY MANAGER 01/12/2010     231,115       27,090  - 

7 HUMAN RESOURCE DIRECTOR 08/03/2017     300,961       27,500  - 

8 INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY DIRECTOR 12/02/2002     233,407  23,400 - 

 
*This report will be updated as soon as any decisions on cash/in-kind benefits for the year 2021 are due in the 
future. 
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3. The External Auditor: 

KPMG audits the company's accounts; the following is a brief information:  
 

KPMG has been in the Lower Gulf (UAE and Oman) since 1973, have they built competent team of more 
than 30 partner and 700 professionals at their offices in Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah, Jebel Ali, Ras Al 
Khaimah, Fujairah and Muscat. The customer base includes governmental departments and institutions 
of social services for both government and private sector, the reputable commercial and Islamic banks, 
the financial institutions, oil and gas companies, utilities and the manufacturing companies. 
Their Record of the Company shows commitment to the autonomy and governance and retain the 
highest level of standards: 
 

- The first accounting company that publishes audited accounts and annual reports. 

- The first accounting company that takes a strategic decision to sell its advisory then retains the bulk 
of the proceeds of the sale in the business to further strengthen the company's budget and 
investment in technology and its own resources. 

It has supported the work of a professional clear repair, including continuous rotation of audit partners, 
which supports the company's methodology in maintaining the highest standards of independence and 
transparency. 

 

Auditing Firm Name KPMG 
Auditor Partner Name Saif Shawer 

Mohamed Aylouce /partner in-charge 
The number of years served as an auditor for the 
company 

One year.  

Total fees for auditing the financial statement of 
2021 (AED) 

ADE 165,000/- 

The fees and costs of the special services other than 
auditing of the financial statements in 2021 (AED) 

None 

The details and nature of other services provided None 
 
Other services performed by an external auditor other than the Companies Auditors in 2021 
 

Crowe Mak AED 5,000  In-Country Value Certification -ICV 
Ernst & Young USD 10,000  Accounting Consultations 

 
 
5. The were no qualified opinions made by the company’s external auditor in the interim and annual 

financial statements for 2021.  
 
  



 
 

 في المشروعات التجاریة والعقاریة ر، التجارة العامة، الاستثما1979" سنة 3مساھمة عامة أسست بموجب القانون رقم "شركة 
 أبوظبي، الإمارات العربیة المتحدة   2378ص.ب:   

 + 971 2 6732100+ فاكس: 971 2 6731000تلفون:  
e-mail: Foodco@foodcouae.com 

 

           10/16 

4. The Audit Committee 
 

a. “I, Dr. Mohamed Al Hosani – Chairman of the Audit Committee, acknowledge my responsibility for 
the committee’s system in the company and for my review of its mechanism and effectiveness” 

 
b. Members:  Mr. Mohamed Al Hosni.   Chairman (Independent) 
          Mr. Mohamed Saeed Al Qubaisi.  Member (Independent) 
          Ms. Vibhu Joshi .   Member (External Expert) 
 
 

c. Duties: 
 

a. Develop and apply the policy of appointing the external auditors and report to the Board of Directors 
identifying important issues that might need actions and recommending the steps to be taken. 

b. To monitor and monitor the independence and objectivity of the external auditor and discuss the nature 
and scope of the audit and its effectiveness in accordance with the approved auditing standards. 

c. Monitor the integrity of the company's financial statements and reports (annual, semi-annual and 
quarterly) and review them as part of their normal work during the year and after closing accounts in 
any quarter, with special emphasis on the following: 
 

6. Any changes in accounting policies and practices. 
7. Highlight the areas of the Board of Directors' discretion.  
8. Substantial adjustments resulting from audit.  
9. Assuming continuity of business.  
10. Compliance with the accounting standards determined by the Authority.  
11. Compliance with the rules of incorporation, disclosure and other legal requirements related to the 

preparation of financial reports. 
 

d. Coordinating with the Board of Directors of the Company, the Executive Management and the Financial 
Manager or the concerned Manager, in order to perform its duties. The Committee shall meet with the 
auditors of the Company at least once a year. 

e. Consider any important and unusual items that are or should be included in such reports and accounts 
and shall give due attention to any matters raised by the Company's CFO, the concerned Manager or 
the Auditors.  

f. Reviewing the financial control, internal control and risk management systems of the company. 
g. Discuss the internal control system with management and ensure that it fulfills its duty to establish an 

effective internal control system. 
h. Consider the results of the main investigations in the internal control matters assigned to it by the Board 

of Directors or are initiated by the Committee and the approval of the Management.  
i. Ensure the existence of coordination between the internal auditors of the company and the external 

auditor and ensure the availability of resources necessary for the internal audit and review and control 
the effectiveness of that device.   

j. Review the financial and accounting policies and procedures of the company.  
k. Reviewing the External Auditor's letter of work and its plan and any material queries raised by the 

auditors on the executive management regarding accounting records, financial accounts or control 
systems and their response and approval. 

l. Ensure that the Board of Directors responds in a timely manner to the clarifications and material issues 
raised in the external auditor's letter. 

m. Establish controls that enable the Company's staff to report any potential irregularities in financial 
reports, internal controls or other matters confidentially and steps to ensure independent and fair 
investigations of such violations. 

n. Monitor the company's compliance with the Code of Professional Conduct. 
o. Ensure the application of the rules of work for the functions and powers assigned to it by the Board of 

Directors. 
p. Report to the Board of Directors on matters listed in this item. 
q. Consideration of any other matters determined by the Board of Directors. 
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Meetings of the Audit Committee  
 

 

Meetings 
Meeting 

Date 
Attendance* 

Remarks 
Mohamed 
Al Hosani 

Mohamed 
AlQubaisi 

Vibhu 
Joshi 

1st Meeting  March 14 * - * In presence of the External Auditor  
2nd Meeting May 11 * - * In presence of the External Auditor  
3rd Meeting August 8 * - * In presence of the External Auditor  
4th Meeting November 9 * * * In presence of the External Auditor  

 
 

5. The Nomination & Remunerations Committee 
 

a. “I, Mohamed Al Qubaissi – Chairman of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee, acknowledge 
my responsibility for the committee’s system in the company and for my review of its mechanism and 
effectiveness” 

 
b. Members:  

Mr. Mohamed Saeed Al Qubaissi,  Chairman (independent) 
Mr. Mohamed Ali Al Hosani,   Member (independent) 
Mr. Mohamed Ali Al Dhaheri.   Member (Non-executive) 
 

c. Duties:  
 

1. Prepare the human resources and training policy and monitor its implementation. This policy 
shall be reviewed annually. 

2. Preparation of the policy of granting bonuses and benefits, incentives and salaries and review the 
same annually. 

3. Define the company's needs in competencies at the level of senior executive management and 
employees and the bases of their selection. 

4. Ensure independence of the independent of members. 
5. Prepare a policy for the nomination to the membership of the Board of Directors and Executive 

Management, which aims at taking into consideration gender diversity within the formation and 
encouraging women through incentives, programs and training. 

6. Organizing and following up the procedures for nomination to the Board of Directors in 
accordance with applicable laws and regulations. 

7. Review the structure of the Board of Directors and make recommendations regarding possible 
changes. 

8. Any other matters determined by the Board of Directors 
 
The Meetings of the Nomination & Remunerations Committee  
 

 
The Meetings 

 
Meeting Date 

Attendance* 
Mohamed  

Al Qubaissi 
Mohamed  
Al Hosni 

Mohamed  
Al Dhaheri 

1st Meeting  March 14 - * * 
2nd Meeting April 14  - * * 
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6. Insiders’ Trading Follow-up & Supervision Committee  
 

a. “I, Dr. Mohamed Al Hosani – Chairman of the Insiders’ Trading follow-up & Supervision Committee, 
acknowledge my responsibility for the committee’s system in the company and for my review of its 
mechanism and effectiveness” 
 

b. Members  
Mr. Mohamed Ali AL Hosani, Chairman  
Mr. Mohamed Hafez , Member  
Ms. Taysir Mokashfi , Member 
 

c. Functions & Duties:  
- Manage, follow up and supervise the Insiders’ trading and their ownership of the company shares, 

keep their records and submit the periodic reports and reports to the market. 
 
d. Summary of the Committee activities in 2021:  
- Maintain and review the Insiders’ List periodically and ensure that it is updated immediately on the 

ADX website. 
- Ensure that all insiders has signed and confirmed their commitment to maintain the confidentiality 

of information and data relating to the company and its customers and bear all legal effects in the 
event of leakage of this information or data, and notify the company of any transactions they make 
on the securities of the parent company or subsidiary before and after the conduct of such trades. 

- Request a periodic report from the Abu Dhabi Securities Exchange for insider trading and ensure its 
conformity with the company's record and disclosures of those insiders of their trades, so that the 
report of the insiders committee will be submitted accordingly to the Board of Directors. 

 

7. Internal Control System  
 

a. The Board of Directors declares its responsibility for the structure of the internal control system of 
the Company, which it deems necessary to preserve the Company's assets, protect its assets and 
ensure the preparation of financial statements free of material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and is responsible for verifying its effectiveness.  

 Internal control includes the organizational plan, all consistent methods and standards adopted by 
the company to protect its assets, control accuracy and confidence in its accounting statements, 
improve production efficiency, and encourage adherence to pre-set administrative policies. 

 

b. The Board of Directors of the Company has decided to establish the Internal Control Department and 
has been entrusted with the following basic tasks: 

1. Review the financial control and internal control systems and risk management. 
2. Discuss the internal control system with the Management and ensure that it fulfills its duty to 

establish an effective internal control system. 
3. Consideration of the results of the main investigations in the internal control matters assigned to it 

by the Board of Directors or at the initiative of the Committee and the approval of the Management 
 Internal Control Department Manual, which states its functions and powers, have been 

approved by the Board. 
 

c. Mr. Mohamed Abbas is Internal Control In-Charge, and Compliance Officer as well. 
 He is a Certified Accountant, holds a Bachelor of Accounting, and an International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) with 13 years of experience in accounting, auditing, financial analysis, 
and financial reporting. He joined the company on 19 November 2018. 

d. The company did not face any major problems during 2020 and in case of any, it shall be dealt in 
accordance with the requirements of the matters. 

e. The Internal Control Department has submitted four reports to the Board of Director during 2021. 
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8. Violations committed during 2021 

The company was alerted by SCA of violating Article (no2) of the Authority's Board of Directors 
Decision No. (08/R.M) for the year 2021 regarding the representation of women in the companies' 
boards of directors. And instructed the company to appoint a woman in its board of directors if the 
period of the BOD is completed, or there is a vacancy during the term of the current board, or the number 
of board members is increased. 
 

The company explained to SCA that the Nomination Door opening was published on 4/4/2021 and the 
above-mentioned decision was issued on 08/04/2021 during the company nomination period (in which 
no female nomination application submitted). 
 

The action to be taken wasn’t clear if no female applied to the board membership, which what happened 
in our case. Then SCA’s explanatory circular of the decision was issued on 10/6/2021, has cleared up 
the confusion and clarified how to deal with these cases. 
 

However, the company committed to adhere the SCA decision by appointing a female in its board of 
directors if period of the BOD is completed, or there is a vacancy during the term of the current board, 
or the number of board members is increased. 
 
 

9. The Company's Contribution During 2021 towards the of Local Community 
Development and Environmental conservation  

The company was keen to apply best practices to protect the environment and conform to health, 
security and safety standards for its employees and visitors. It is committed to the UAE laws and 
regulations in this regard. 
The company did not make any contributions in kind or cash during the year 2021. 
 

10. General Information 
 

a. Share price during the year 2021(highest & lowest) 
 

Month OPEN 
(AED) 

HIGH 
(AED) 

LOW 
(AED) 

CLOSE 
(AED) 

1 2.99 2.99 2.99 2.99 
3 3 3.36 3 3.36 
6 3.2 3.2 3.2 3.2 
7 3.05 3.39 3.05 3.07 
8 3.15 3.15 3.15 3.15 
9 3.15 3.15 2.84 3.15 

10 3.45 3.45 3.45 3.45 
11 3.11 3.45 2.95 3.39 
12 3.06 3.36 3.06 3.25 
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b. share performance Comparison 2021 

 
 

 

 
 

c. Shareholding Distribution as of 31/12/2021: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

d. Statement of shareholders holding 5% or more of the capital as of 31/12/2021 
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Foodco Share price 2021 vs 2020

Foodco - 2021 Foodco - 2020

Foodco - ADCM - ADI

ADX Index Staples Index Foodco

Percentage of Shares Held Shareholder 
Category Total% Government Companies Individual 

99.562 - 58.557 41.003 Local 
0.185 - 0.005 0.180 Arab 
0.256 - - 0.256 Foreign 
100% - 58.562 41.438 Total 

Name No of Shares 
held % 

Al Wathba Insurance Company PJSC 27,377,341 22.81% 
Ali & Sons Holding L.L.C. 27,373,988 22.81% 
Mariyam Ahmed Abdullah Abdol Al Khumairi 17,247,071 14.37% 
Ali & Sons Company, owned by Ali & Sons Co 11,748,388 9.79% 
Mohamed Bin Ahmed Bin Saeed Al Qassimi 9,656,691 8.05% 
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e. Shareholding Distribution to the size of equity as at 31/12/2021.  
 

SL Share(s) Owned No of 

Shareholders 

No of Shares 

held 

Percentage to 

Capital 

1 Less than 50,000 297 3,114,347 2.60% 
2 50,000 -500,000 73 13,683,397 11.40% 
3 500,000-5,000,000 8 9,798,777 %8.17 
4 More than 5,000,000 5 9,3403,479 %77.84 

 
 

f. Procedures taken with respect of the controls of investors’ relation.  

1. Investor Relation Officer details: 
Amr Rashad Qotb 
Tel : +971 2 6731000 – ext 1305 
E-mail : Amr.kotb@foodcouae.com 

2. The link of Investor Relation webpage on the website of the company: 
 

http://www.foodco-uae.com/Menu/index.aspx?PriMenuID=21&mnu=Pri 
 
g. Special resolutions presented to the General Assembly held in 2020. 

 The special resolution Procedures taken with respect 

thereto 

1. Approved the remuneration policy of Board of 
Directors and its committees 

Implemented. 

2. Approved the amendment of the Articles. 
(1/7/19/22/23/29/30/31/34/37/38/39/40/41/43/ 
46/47/49/50/51/59/64/67) of the Article of 
Association of the company as published in the 
company’s website and the ADX website 

Amendments done. 

 

 

h. *     Name of the Rapporteur Board meetings : Taysir Mokashfi 

• Date of Appointment   : Jan 2017 

• Qualifications: 

She holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics, Faculty of Economics and Social Studies, University 
of Khartoum. 20 years’ experience (accounting, board secretary, investor relations), courses and 
workshops on governance and sustainability 
 

• Tasks during the Year 2021: 
 

- Editing the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees, including 
details of the issues considered and decisions taken, taking into consideration the necessary 
controls for those minutes (date and method of the invitation, venue, timing, end of time, 
proof of attendance and representation). 

- Keeping the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees. 
 
 
 

mailto:Amr.kotb@foodcouae.com
mailto:Amr.kotb@foodcouae.com
http://www.foodco-uae.com/Menu/index.aspx?PriMenuID=21&mnu=Pri
http://www.foodco-uae.com/Menu/index.aspx?PriMenuID=21&mnu=Pri
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i. Significant event took place in the company in 2021. 

None 
 

j. Statement of the transactions made with related parties during the year 2021 that are equal 

to 5% or more of the company's capital. 

None 
 

k.  Emiratization percentage in the company. 

Year Percentage 

2019 8.50 

2020 11.00 

2021 1.35 
 

 
 

 
l. Innovative projects and initiatives implemented by the company, or which were under 

development during 2021 

None 

  
 

 

______________________ _______________________ ______________________ ____________________ 
Ahmed Ali Al Dhaheri Dr. Mohamed AlHossani Mohamed AlQubaissi Mohamed Abbas 

Chairman of the 
Board of Directors 

 

Chairman  
of the Audit Committee 

Chairman of the 
Nomination & 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Internal Control 
 In-Charge 

25/03/2022 
 

25/03/2022 
 

25/03/2022 
 

25/03/2022 
 

 



7

7

Sustainability report 



Committed to Quality for sustainable Living & 

Customer's satisfaction 
Sustainability report 2021

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 1



Content

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 2

About this report 4

Scope of the report 5

Report highlights 2021   6

Message from the CFO  7

Message from the GM   8

Values in action 9

Our Company 10

At a glance 11

Creating value through our brands 12

Optimizing Values into all Operations 13

Our Sustainability vision 14

Listening to our stakeholders 15

Our Priorities on Sustainability Topics 16

Maintaining  Ethical, Responsible & Profitable Business 17

UN Sustainable Development Goals 18

Corporate Governance 

Risk Management Framework

19

20

Risk Management and Internal Controls (AML) 21

Information Technology 22

Ethical Business Conduct 26



Content

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 3

Fostering Diverse, Healthy and Safe 
Communities 

28

Our People 29

Training & Development 30

Health & Safety 31

HSE Objectives, and goals 32

Preserving and Protecting the Environment 35



Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 4

About 
this Report
Foodco is pleased to introduce its third release 
of annual sustainability report for the year  
2021, exhibiting our continuous Commitment to 
observing and reporting our environmental, 
social and governance performance. This report 
highlights our Commitment to operating and 
growing in a sustainable manner whilst 
generating shared value to all our stakeholders.

GRI 
Accordance

This report has been  
prepared in accordance  
with GRI Standards 
(Core option).

External 
Assurance 

We chose not to appoint an 
external party to audit our 
nonfinancial data for this 
report. We followed an 
internal assurance process 
to give our stakeholders full 
confidence in the accuracy 
of the information reported.

Alignments

The report aligns 
with  GRI Standards, 
United  Nations 
Sustainable  
Development Goals  
(SDGs), and UAE 
Vision 2021.

Comparable 
Data 

Most disclosures in this  
report cover historical  
data of 2019 and 2020, 
showcasing 
developments over time

Scope of the report                                                                     

Report highlights 2021                                                                           

Message from the CFO  

Message from the GM   

Values in action



Scope of 
the Report

.
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Business Units 

The report covers our 
operations in the 

united Arab Emirates 
(UAE) unless 

otherwise stated.
Entities

The report covers the 
operations  of Foodco Holding, 

which includes majority 
shareholder or wholly  owned 

assets referred to as 
’subsidiaries’. Performance 

data relates to both the Group 
and subsidiaries, unless 

otherwise indicated.

Monetary Values

All monetary values in 
this report are 

expressed in Arab 
Emirates Dirhams 

(AED), unless 
otherwise stated.Financial Performance

Financial Performance covers all 
Foodco Holding PJSC and all its 

subsidiaries. For detailed 
information about our financial 

performance, please refer to 
our 2021 Annual Report

Terminology

Use of ‘the Group’ in 
this report refers to 

Foodco Holding PJSC, 
including all its 

subsidiaries in the 
UAE

Year
The report covers our 
environmental, social, 

and  governance 
performance for the  

period from 1 January 
2021 to 31  December 
2021, unless otherwise  

indicated.



2021 Highlights
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Maintaining Ethical, 
Responsible & Profitable 
Business 

Fostering Divers, Healthy & 
Safe Communities 

Innovation and 
Reengineering product 
Quality & sustainability 

Preserving and Protecting 
the Environment 

123 Million    AED in Revenue

84%   Employees Satisfaction
Healthy vegan meals & 
healthy Snack introduced 

12% Decrease in electricity 

Consumption 

829 Million  AED investment 9% increase of our newly hired female 

employees

<1.2 Customer complaints per a 

million-product sold 

8% Decrease in GHG emission 

0(Zero)  in bribery or 

corruption cases 
19 Different nationalities work at 

Foodco Holding

100% Suppliers evaluation and 

screening for Quality, health, safety and 
environmental compliance 

123 tones of recycled waste 

95%  Of Customers are satisfied with 

Quality of our products

535 Hours of training in health, safety 

and environmental protection

27 Million AED Ready for 

sale Products and Services 

11% landfilled waste from total waste 

0(Zero) Occupational injury

0(Zero) Vehicles collusion 

54 New SKUs introduced 



Message from The CFO

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021

With great pleasure, it honors us in Foodco Holding to send off our Third release of Sustainability Report for 
the year of 2021. This comprehensive report covers a wide scope of approaches, with passion to integrate 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) guidelines and best practices into all areas of our businesses.

Regardless of difficulties of the pandemic, Foodco Holdings’ reaction has stayed strong We went to all 
potential lengths to safeguard our Employees, their families, and the communities where we serve. the 
commitment of each employee has kept our Businesses  running securely and keep on giving our communities 
the fundamental services that we offer, while adding to our local economies.

Today, like never before previously,  we remain strategically aligned with the UAE’s vision of economic, social 
and environmental success of the country, and Foodco Holdings' procedure is particularly situated to stick to 
worldwide social obligation and manageability best practices connected with our industry.

At Foodco Holdings, we see Sustainability in the broadest sense and work in regard of the climate, society, and 
financial prosperity. All through our activities, we develop high quality products to meet the needs of our 
consumers and community

Our sustainability report sheds light on our key sustainability priorities, anchored to four strategic pillars: 
Fostering Healthy & Safe Communities, Innovating & Rethinking Product Quality & Sustainability, Preserving & 
Protecting the Environment, and Maintaining Ethical, Responsible & Profitable Business. This report provides 
in-depth information and commitments we have made to drive sustainability in our day-to-day activities, and 
through all areas of operations

Sustainability at Foodco holding is our priority and responsibility as members of the community to ensure we 
our business is leaving a positive impact to the environment for future generations

It's our belief to build a sustainable business and embracing the leadership role and guidance to build 
sustainable communities for a better tomorrow.

With hard owrk, commitment and dedication we together will achieve the goals.

7

Mr. Mohamed Hafez
Chief Finance Officer 



Message from The General Manager 
Being mindful and constantly working closely with the market demands & trends amid 
the industry transformation driven by innovation, sustainability, and unpredictable 
market disruptions. we are now more focused on aligning business activities with the 
impact on the environment, as well promoting awareness for all stakeholders and 
communities of the correlation between a company’s growth and the environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) strategies and implementations. At Foodco Holdings, we 
have been strategically evolving to ensure the innovation, continuity, and value to all 
our customers and shareholders, whilst maximizing our positive impact on society and 
the environment around us. 

we are always on a look-out to ensure customer's health and satisfaction, as well as 
environmentally friendly, we  introduced 100% plant-based products including JUNE 
bran for effective business continuity. subsequently we innovated 54 SKUs during the 
challenging year of 2021 to provide healthy and nutritional products.

Foodco Holding’s sustainability report for 2021 outlined this versatility and our enabled 
potential to develop worth and profits to investors and society. For that, I  want to 
pause for a minute to thank every single individual that added to this report and every 
one of the accomplishments featured inside it, as I really like every one of your 
endeavors and commitments to this venture that we have left on. Straightforwardness 
will constantly remain our core value, as we keep on making a genuine commitment to 
individuals' lives through difficult tasks and responsibilities, by keeping sustainability at 
the core of how we carry on with work.

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021

8

Mr. Waseem Halabi 
General Manager 
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Values in Action

Our compassionate 
Response to 

Covid-19

While Market conditions globally has gone 
through serious challenges due to Covid-19 
Pandemic, Our core value of being "One Team" 
has played a significant role to face it together 
collaboratively and ensured our employees, 
specifically frontline workers, their safety and 
the safety of our customers were the priority 
by applying the best safety measures available. 

EMPLOYEE SAFETY
Foodco Holding is responsible for over 370 
employees across the UAE business locations. As 
the impacts of the Covid-19 infection became 
visible, we immediately executed measures to 
defend their wellbeing and prosperity.

RESPONSE PLAN 
Covid-19 response protocol was made and shared 
by our HR team across all business units with a 
command to screen the pandemic all through our 
business locations and set guidelines for worker 
safety. Clear Communication through email and 
banners as well as all available online and offline 
modems were used to outlining market conditions, 
risk assessments and safety protocols. 
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Our Company
At a glance 

Who are we 

What we do

Were we Operate  

Our value Chain

Ours Strategy
Business Review 



At a glance 
Foodco Holding was established in 2006 as a result of the growth and increased diversity of 
the companies encompassed by Abu Dhabi National Foodstuff Company (Foodco LLC) 
presently. A renowned and respected firm in the region that was established in Abu Dhabi in 
1979 as a public shareholding entity under the patronage of His Highness Sheikh Khalifa Bin 
Zayed Al Nahyan, the President of U.A.E. Foodco Holding comprises four subsidiary 
companies, Foodco LLC, Sense Gourmet, Dana Plaza and Oasis all of which operate as 
standalone entities under the holding company.

Setup as a public shareholding entity, the Abu Dhabi National Foodstuff Company, now 
known as Foodco Holding, is the core foundation of the group. Benefiting from a strategic 
location, strong financial backing, a solid infrastructure and a progressive approach, the 
company flourished, paving the way for further growth and development.

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 11

We are the Award Winner of 
Super Brand 2021

Voted Product of the year 2021

19
Brands of an 
expanding 
portfolio

Exporting to 
more than 5 

countries

Trusted 
Supplier in 
the region
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Creating value through 

our brands
Our portfolio of essential, trusted brands 

continues to diversify and expand, touching 
new lives every day

We retain our customers by offering them the 
highest Quality and multiple choices of 

premium brans, customers excellent care is the 
main reason why we are the award winners of 

product of the year choice  and being the 
super bran



Optimizing Values into all 
Operations
The base of our success are our core values, which have been integrated 
across all our operations that have transformed the culture to be highly 
focused on safe, efficient and productive work environment.

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 13

Driven by our values

One Team Passion Trust Good is not 
good enough

Accountability

Value Chain Model

Plan Source Storage Deliver

Sales & 
Business 
Development
• Market 

Demand
• Products
• Distribution 

Procurement
• Sourcing
• Buying
• Supplier’s 

evaluation

Operations
• Warehousing
• Operations 

Excellence 
• Assets 

Maintenance 

Logistics
• Fleet
• Distribution 

Effectiveness
Operations Excellence, best quality and 
Continuous improvement are keys 
foundation of delivering sustained value 
for our shareholders. With strategic plan 
mapped out to deliver efficiency and 
productivity our operations in 2022. we 
excelled in facing the challenges of a 
volatile market and impacted supply 
routes. To meet market demand , cost-
saving measures were implemented 
across supply chain, operation lines and 
logistics networks

Business Lines: 

Supply Chain, 
Warehousing, 
Logistics
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Our 
Sustainability 

vision

Operations 
Excellence to ensure 
better customer care 

and satisfaction

At Foodco Holding P.J.S.C
We take pride on our commitment of ensuring highest quality 

and customer satisfaction as a way of sustaining business 
relation and fostering a healthy community. Our long-term goal 
is to nourish healthy generations and make our planet a better 

place as greener and healthier.

Meeting Goals of the 
UAE sustainability 
vision 2030 as well 
as UN Sustainable 

Development  goals 

Committed to 
Quality for 
Sustainable 

living 



Listening to our 
stakeholders 
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Senior Managements: 
Business Development, Risk Management, 

Business Continuity, Meetings and 
Communication, Governance, ethics and 

compliance. 

Local communities, NGOs & government 
Communication, regulations, collaborations, 
assessing the need, Food Security, Quality, 

Specs, health and well-being. 

Customers and Suppliers
Customer’s satisfaction, communication, 

Supplier’s evaluation, high quality product, 
pricing, product availability.

Investors and shareholders
Investors relation, regular communication, 

financial performance, initiatives 

Employees: 

Communication, Training, Career 
Development, Secession plans, Rewards 

and recognitions, Team Meetings.  



Our Priorities on Sustainability Topics 
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Highly Materiality Materiality Important 

Product Quality & Safety Workplace Diversity and equal 
opportunity 

Employees Engagement and Well-being

Corporate Governance and business 
ethical practices 

Waste Management Healthy Products 

Food waste reduction Customer Satisfaction Climate change 

Financial performance Human rights Community contribution & investment.

Workplace health and safety Food Security Environmental Impact 

Employees Development and 
retention

Innovation and circular economy 



Maintaining Ethical, 
Responsible and 
Profitable Business 
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Material Topics
Our Finance Performance 

Corporate Governance 

Risk Management and Internal Controls

Ethical Business Conduct

Supporting Human rights

Our Customers 
Responsible Marketing 

Foodco Holding is Committed to sustainable 
model and economy in alignment with 
sustainability visions of UAE and United Nation.
We are committed to generate profitable and 
high values to all stakeholders without 
compromising our responsibility toward social, 
environment and business ethics
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Corporate Governance 
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FOODCO Holding PJSC, effectively applies the principles of corporate governance due to the keenness of the Board of
Directors to protect and maximize the shareholders' equity; the Company is committed to apply the principles of
Corporate Governance in accordance with the Securities and Commodities Authority (SCA) Resolution No. (3/RM of
2020) concerning the regulations of Corporate Governance and standards of institutional discipline

The Board of Directors adopted a Corporate Governance guide which includes a set of rules and policies, and by
which the commercial, financial and administrative operations of the company are managed and monitored to achieve
its goals and plans in order to ensure compliance with the best corporate governance practices and standards of
institutional discipline. This helps the Board of Directors to exercise the responsibilities entrusted to it by the Company
its shareholders. The Board of Directors may modify some of these regulations or dispense some of them as they deem
appropriate in accordance with their accumulated experiences or as required by the applicable laws and regulations.

Regulation also stipulates that these rules, regulations and policies are binding on all members of the Board of
Directors, Executive Management, Managers and Employees, and may be amended only by a decision of the Board.
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ANTI- MONEY LAUNDERING AND COMBATING THE FINANCING OF 
TERRORISM AND ILLEGAL ORGANISATIONS

- The Federal Decree-law No. (20) of 2018 on Anti-Money
Laundering and Combating the Financing of Terrorism and
Financing of Illegal Organizations creates an obligation on all
compliance officer to report suspicious activities directly
through its electronic system or by any means approved by
the Financial Intelligence Unit (" FIU") of the UAE Central
Bank.

- Registration on the 'GOAML' portal is mandatory for all
Relevant Persons including Designated Non-Financial
Businesses ("DNFBPs") so we had registered both Foodco
holding company and DANAPLAZA company

In Foodco Holding Risk and Internal controls, we 
cover:
What is the trade or business activities shall be 
considered a DNFBP?
Customer Due Diligence (CDD)
Identify the Customer’s identity
Suspecting of transaction
Internal Supervision and Foreign Branches and 
Subsidiaries
Compliance Officer Tasks
Important questions to always be addressed 
High-Risk Jurisdiction 



Foodco Sustainability Report 2021 22



Presentation Headline

Fleet Management System (FMS)

We have been driven by certain pillars that impacts our business vision and mission when it comes to fleet optimization, 
efficiency and productivity.

And from such a belief we have been using FMSi IVMS as a means of:

• Tracking our fleet of vehicles and the delivery routes taken.

• Monitoring drivers’ behaviors and trends.

• Reducing violations and risks.

• Educating drivers by setting KPIs.

• Proper utilization, monitoring and controlling of our fleet.
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Presentation Headline

ERP Process Flows Automation

Since automation became the new trend impacting companie’s business performance we had to adopt such a trend in our business having in 
mind that we are using one of the most stable and powerful ERP applications worldwide (SAP).

This exercise stared by understanding the business requirements, identify automation scenarios then set the process flows that needs to be 
automated and digitalized utilizing the current available ERP system.

The first business process flow to automate was the Purchasing cycle (Local or Foreign). 

starting from a clear, well defined procurement management process flow help to minimize errors, save time and streamline procurement 
management cycle. 

Mapping the procurement process flow in SAP helped us in:

• Providing us with a clear overview of where the processes start and end 

• Increased efficiency

• Ensured accuracy

• Boosted transparency

• Improved collaboration

• Enhanced compliance

• Maintained security

Foodco Sustainability Report 2021



Presentation Headline

Information Management Platform (Zylab)

Having a well-maintained Information Management is considered as one the critical key success factors in any business.

And to keep things simple and focused on the Key Success Factors for our growing business we have implemented Zylab as one of the 
best eDiscovery platforms for our:

• Information risk management.

• Email management.

• Records, contracts, and document management.

• Knowledge management. 

With such a smart platform we are able to smartly store/retrieve/manage our data in a very easy simple way utilizing the artificial 
intelligence features available in this archiving platform.
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Foodco Policy of Ethical 
Business Conduct Focal 

points 
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In Foodco Holding we are driven, practice and oblige by 
Business Ethics, morals and responsibilities and it's our core 
value to ensure that:
Every human being has a right to be treated with dignity, 

whatever their religion, language, nationality, place of 
residence, sex, skin colour or any other status. Promot and 
protect every human rights inside and outside of the 
organization.
We ensure awareness and follow the alignment with the State 
duty to protect human rights, the corporate responsibility to 
respect human rights, and the right of victims to access an 
effective remedy.



Treat others with 
dignity and respect 

at all times

Address and report 
inappropriate behavior 
and comments that are 

discriminatory, 
harassing, abusive, 

offensive or 
unwelcome.

Foster teamwork 
and employee 
participation, 

encouraging the 
representation of 

different employee 
perspectives.

Seek out insights from 
employees with different 

experiences, 
perspectives and 

backgrounds.

Support flexible work 
arrangements for co-workers 
with different needs, abilities 

and/or obligations

Confront the decisions or 
behaviors of others that are 

based on conscious or 
unconscious biases

Be open-minded and 
listen when given 

constructive feedback 
regarding others' 

perception of your 
conduct.
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Fostering
Diverse, 
Healthy and 
Safe
Communities
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Our People

Training & Development 

Health & Safety

Community Engagement 



Our People
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Equal 
opportunities

At Foodco Holding, 
equality is our 
fundamental trait, 
ensuring every 
member is given an 
equal opportunity   

Diverse Workplace 
With over 18 different nationalities working in 
Foodco Holding

Gender Equality 
At Foodco we are proud to say that more 
than 30% of our employees are female 
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Training & Development 

In Foodco Holding, we ensure to 
develop our employees through 
provision of technical and non-

technical training in order to 
facilitate personal and professional 
growth for each member of Foodco
family to reach their full potential 

600 Training 
hours in 

2021



Health & Safety in Foodco Holding 
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Health and Safety Matrix  2019 2020 2021

Number of lost days from LTIs 0 0 0

Number of fatalities 0 0 0

Number of near misses 0 0 0

Number of Unsafe Act 5 6 6

Number of vehicle accidents 5 6 1

Number of Vehicle Violations 99 67 66

In Foodco Holding, Safety in workplace always comes first, protecting our employees is at most 
priority, therefore, we regularly carry out Risk assessment and inspection of workplace in addition 

to  awareness sessions, those initiatives have helped shaped the safety culture in Foodco to be one 
of the safest work environment consistently for last several years. Below an illustrative figures of 

safety performance in Foodco. 



2021 HSE PROGRESS AGAINTS OUR GOALS
We have reviewed our EHS Policy to ensure its suitability to our organizational context, this serves our foundations and guidelines to 

achieve the 2021 EHS Targets and Objectives.

Risk Assessments and Health Hazard Identified has been reviewed to ensure alignment to the current activities of Foodco Holding PJSC.

It is also important to commend the organization’s effort to continuously strive and improve the implementation, retention and reporting the 

result of the EHS Performance.
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GOALS ACTION PLANS CURRENT PROGRESS STATUS/

POSITION

100% implementation of EHS 

Management System

Conduct gap analysis to the entire 

organization 100% gap analysis conducted to 

all core functional departments to 

understand the needs and their 

requirements, established total of 

51 controlled documents and 

procedures that are strictly 

implemented in the entire 

Organization.

Establish the EHS Management 

System documents
Implementation of the approved 

policies and procedures

Monitoring and evaluation of 

effectiveness of the EHS Management 

System implementation

Zero Occupational Injuries and 

Illnesses for year 2021

Conduct HIRADC for all Foodco’s 

activities
Health and Safety Risk 

Assessment workshop conducted 

to the core functional team and 

total 0 recordable incident for 

2021

Implement all the determined 

controls for Risk Score 15 above
Recording all near misses and incident 

for the year 2020.

Monitoring and evaluation of effectiveness 

of the control implementation
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GOALS ACTION PLANS CURRENT PROGRESS STATUS/

POSITION

15% Reduction on Product Waste 

Generation for 2021

Analyze the volume of COPQ for 

2021 vs 2020
The organization established 

the procedure of market Sales 

Return, series of trainings and 

orientation has been 

conducted to the concerned 

team to ensure strict 

implementation of the 

procedure. 

Establish procedure for market 

returns.

Training and orientation of product 

proper handling at all stages 

(receiving, storage, delivery and 

market display)

Monitoring and evaluation of 

effectiveness of the activities 

100% training/awareness 

conducted for EHS Management 

System and its requirements

Generate the Competency Matrix, 

TNA and Training Plan for the year 

2021

Training needs analysis are 

translated into 2021 Training 

Plan, total of 10 training 

conducted for the year 2021

Implementation of the Training 

Plan Schedule
Generate EHS Card bearing the 

EHS Policy and Employee’s 

Contribution

Monitoring and evaluation of 

effectiveness of the activities 

2021 HSE PROGRESS AGAINTS OUR GOALS
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FOODCO’s 2022 EHS TARGETS & OBJECTIVES

EHS MANAGEMENT SYSTEM IMPLEMENTATION AND IMPROVEMENT

One of the major focuses of the 2022 EHS Target and Objectives for EHS Sustainability is to 

effectively sustain the implementation of the HSE Management System established in the 

year 2020. 

“100% conducted verification of the effective implementation of the EHS Management 

System.”

1. 100% Internal Audit Conducted as Planned

2. 100% Management Review as Planned

3. Less than 3 Minor NC raised against HSE noncompliance per Internal Audit cycle

OCCUPATIONAL INJURIES AND ILLNESSES

Foodco aims for Zero Occupational Injuries and Illnesses therefore as part of our EHS 

Campaign, Foodco commits to intensively provide awareness to our Team, monitors and 

report work safety incidents and accidents.

“Zero occupational injuries and illnesses for 2022”

1. Less than 3 Non LTI per year including vehicular accident at fault

2. 100% monitoring and reporting of incident and accidents 

3. 100% closing of Incident Report within 3 months’ time.

REDUCTION ON WASTE GENERATION

Foodco strive to continuously improve its activities and their impact to the environment and 

as part of this commitment we will develop and implement Foodco’s Green Office 

Management for the year 2022.

1. Established and Implement 2 Policies in relation to EHS (Resources Conservation) for the 

year 2022

2. 5% Reduction of total COPQ of 2022 versus COPQ of 2021

3. 5% reduction on 2022 paper usage against the year 2021.

EMPLOYEE’S EHS AWARENESS & EMPOWERMENT CAMPAIGNS  

Foodco valued the contribution of the employees to its success is essential therefore, for the 

year 2022 we have improved the EHS Campaigns in order to continuously provide awareness to 

our employees.

1. More than 90% training conducted for HSE as planned.

2. Semi-annual Fire Mock drills conducted for 2022



Reduce, 
Reuse, and 

Recycle

We encourage use 
of re-usable water 

battles
We segregate our 

waste ensured 
recycling 

We are 
switching to 

LED lights

We are reducing 
printing and 

paper use

Powering off 
computers and 
all devices is a 

practice 
followed

Ventilation 
to improve 
air quality

Reduction of 
travel and use 

of 
telecommunica

tion
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Preserving and Protecting the environment

At Foodco we embrace sustainable 
business practices, promoting the 
climate change awareness for the 
future of our planet. We strive to 
practice sustainability and 
environment protection in all our 
ways of work and living, mentioned 
here are part of many practices which 
contributed to fostering and 
protection of the environment 
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Thank you 

Foodco Holdings 
PJSC
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